#### HUMANITARIAN RESPONSE: AN INVESTIGATION OF THE CITY OF EKURHULENI'S STRATEGIES IN RESOLVING RESPONSE CHALLENGES

By

**TSHEPO INNOCENT MAKUA** 

2017245081

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree

# **Masters of Disaster Management**

In the

#### FACULTY OF NATURAL AND AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES: DISASTER MANAGEMENT TRAINING AND EDUCATION CENTRE FOR AFRICA (DIMTEC)

At the

## UNIVERSITY OF THE FREE STATE

#### SUPERVISOR

#### Dr Olivia Kunguma

#### BLOEMFONTEIN

2021

# **Declaration of originality**

I, Tshepo Innocent Makua, hereby declare that this dissertation, submitted for the fulfilment of a Master's Degree in Disaster Management at the University of the Free State, is my original work and independent investigation and has not been previously submitted in its entirety or part by me or any other person to this University or any other institution of higher education for the awarding of any qualification. All the sources that I have used or quoted have been indicated or acknowledged by complete references.

Date:.../..../2021

Tshepo Innocent Makua

Student Number: 2017245081

# Acknowledgements

I thank Jehovah God as the source of my strength and knowledge.

I would like to express my deep gratitude to Dr Olivia Kunguma, my research supervisor, for being a role model and patient with me. She guided me through my research study, and as a true leader, she worked with me with endless patience. Thank you, Doctor.

I would also like to thank Ms Vallery Poto for her assistance, finding time in her busy schedule to reply to my messages and emails, showing interest and encouragement throughout my study.

I am grateful to my friends, Mbali Mahlalela, Sunnyboy Nkgudi, Portia Magutla and Mabel Mabinane who believed and supported me when family, work and education was overwhelming. Your support made it possible for me to finish the study.

I am hugely indebted to Ms Morongwa Makinta for helping me polish my computer skills and for being a source of motivation. I do not think I can ever repay the debt I owe her.

I thank my children France and Tshepang for understanding when the study took most of my time. Thank you, Ba bena kwena for allowing me to be the artist of my own life.

The study would not have been possible without consent from the City of Ekurhuleni and the assistance of its disaster practitioners who provided the required information. I would also like to acknowledge the financial assistance I received from National Disaster Management Centre. Thank you for making this study possible.

Lastly, special thanks to my family and friends whom I have not mentioned by name, but who supported my children and me while I was busy with studies. Words can never be enough to appreciate your kindness.

# Dedication

This study is dedicated to my beloved parents, Lydia Mogale Makua and late France Tladiamotse Makua, whose affection, love, patience and encouragement enabled me to come this far. *Mma*, I cannot give you life as you gave it to me but I hope this will make life worth living and contribute to your jubilation and feeling of deep satisfaction.

# Abstract

Disasters are physical events or human activities that may lead to loss of lives or injuries, damage to properties and disruptions to the economic and social environment. However, the effects of disasters can be reduced through disaster response and effective humanitarian response strategies. This study examines the barriers the City of Ekurhuleni disaster practitioners encounter during humanitarian response operations, as well as the strategies employed to resolve the challenges and propose recommendations for ensuring efficient response in disaster relief operations.

Face-to-face interviews were used to obtain data from the City of Ekurhuleni disaster practitioners. The study revealed several challenges affecting the humanitarian response operations in the City of Ekurhuleni. The major challenges associated with disaster relief operations are insufficient resources, corruption, political interference, community unrest and lack of coordination among humanitarian agencies. Strategies for efficient humanitarian response operations should include public awareness campaigns, community capacity building, proper coordination among stakeholders and strengthening the humanitarian response plans with appropriate and corresponding details of how to manage the challenges.

#### Keywords

Disasters, disaster response, disaster relief operations, and humanitarian response challenges

# Table of contents

Declaration of originality	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Dedication	iii
Abstract	iv
Table of contents	v
List of figures	x
List of tables	xi
Acronyms	xii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Study area	2
1.3 Background	6
1.4 Problem statement	8
1.5 Research questions	9
1.6 Objectives of the study	9
1.6.1 Primary objective	9
1.6.2 Secondary objectives	10
1.7 Research design and methodology	10
1.7.1 Research design approach	10
1.7.2 Target population	11
1.7.3 Data collection tools	11
1.7.4 Data analysis	11
1.7.5 Reliability and validity	12
1.8 Conceptual framework	12
1.9 Ethical clearance	13
1.10 Delimitation of the study	13

1.11 Limitations of the study	13
1.12 Defition of terms	14
1.12.1 Disaster manager/practitioner	14
1.12.2 Humanitarian worker	14
1.12.3 Relief worker	14
1.12.4 Disaster	14
1.12.5 Disaster Response	14
1.12.6 Disaster Relief	15
1.13 Chapter outline	15
1.14 Conclusion	15
CHAPTER 2: CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	16
2.1 Introduction	16
2.2 Disaster management cycle	16
2.2.1 Phases of the Disaster Management Cycle	18
2.2.1.1 Disaster	18
2.2.1.2 Response	19
2.2.1.3 Recovery	21
2.2.1.4 Development/ Rehabilitation	22
2.2.1.5 Prevention	22
2.2.1.6 Mitigation	22
2.2.1.7 Preparedness	22
2.2.2 Critical analysis of the response phase	23
2.2.2.1 Rapid assessment	23
2.2.2.2 Making decisions based on professional judgment	24
2.2.2.3 Evaluate the decision	25
2.2.2.4 Command/Implementation	25
2.2.3 Advantages of the disaster management cycle	27

2.2.4 Disadvantages of the disaster management cycle	28
2.3 Conclusion	29
CHAPTER 3: LEGISLATION AND POLICY REVIEW	30
3.1 Introduction	30
3.2 The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction	32
3.3 Sustainable Development Goals	35
3.4 South African Disaster Management Act 57 of 2002	40
3.5 Overview of the South African National Disaster Management Framework 2005	of 41
3.5.1 Dissemination of early warnings	42
3.5.2 Assessment and classification of a disaster, declaration and review of disaster	a 42
3.5.3 Integrated response and recovery	43
	44
3.5.4 Relief measures	
3.5.4 Relief measures	44
<ul> <li>3.5.4 Relief measures</li></ul>	44 ter 44
<ul> <li>3.5.4 Relief measures</li></ul>	44 ter 44 45
3.5.4 Relief measures	44 ter 44 45 46
3.5.4 Relief measures	44 ter 44 45 46 46
3.5.4 Relief measures       2         3.5.5 Rehabilitation and reconstruction       2         3.6 Analysis of the Disaster Management Act and the National Disast       2         Management Framework regarding humanitarian response challenges       2         3.7 Conclusion       2         CHAPTER 4: LITERATURE REVIEW       2         4.1 Introduction       2         4.2 Challenges encountered during humanitarian response       2	44 ter 44 45 46 46
3.5.4 Relief measures	44 ter 44 45 46 46 46 47
3.5.4 Relief measures	44 ter 44 45 46 46 46 47 us 51
3.5.4 Relief measures	44 ter 45 46 46 46 47 us 51 52
3.5.4 Relief measures	44 45 46 46 46 47 us 51 52 54
3.5.4 Relief measures       4         3.5.5 Rehabilitation and reconstruction       4         3.6 Analysis of the Disaster Management Act and the National Disast       4         Management Framework regarding humanitarian response challenges       4         3.7 Conclusion       4         CHAPTER 4: LITERATURE REVIEW       4         4.1 Introduction       4         4.2 Challenges encountered during humanitarian response       4         4.3 Root causes of humanitarian response challenges       4         4.4 Strategies that humanitarian agencies employ when responding to variou disasters       4         4.5 Conclusion       4         5.1 Introduction       4	44 ter 45 46 46 46 47 us 51 52 54 54

5.3 Research methodology	56
5.4 Data collection tools	56
5.5 Data analysis	57
5.6 Conclusion	58
CHAPTER 6: DATA ANALYSIS AND PRESENTATION OF RESULTS	59
6.1 Introduction	59
6.2 Demographic characteristics of respondents	59
6.2.1 Education status of respondents	60
6.3 Challenges encountered during humanitarian response	60
6.4 Causes of humanitarian response challenges in The City of Ekurhuleni	64
6.5 Response strategies in the City of Ekurhuleni	65
6.6 Chapter summary	67
CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	68
7.1 Introduction	68
7.2 Study conclusion	69
7.2.1 Challenges encountered during humanitarian response	70
7.2.2 Causes of humanitarian response challenges in the City of Ekurhuleni	70
7.2.3 Response strategies in the City of Ekurhuleni	70
7.4 Recommendations	71
7.4.1 Development of a disaster preparedness plan	71
7.4.2 Inclusion of specific hazard contingency arrangement in the humanit response plan	arian 72
7.4.3 Develop a well-respected organisation	72
7.4.4 Establish community-based capacity building	73
7.4.5 Effective humanitarian response coordination	73
7.4.6 Reinforce humanitarian response plan	73
7.4.7 The Disaster Management Act. 57 of 2002 and the National Dis	aster
Management Framework, 2005	73

7.5 Recommendation for further research	74
REFERENCES	75
ANNEXURES	88
APPENDIX	96

# List of figures

Figure 1.1: City of Ekurhuleni jurisdiction	. 3
Figure 1.2: CoE disaster management organisation chart	. 5
Figure 2.1 Phases of disaster management	18
Figure 6.1: Challenges that are faced by disaster managers in the City of Ekurhule	ni
	51

# List of tables

Table 6.1: Areas within the City of Ekurhuleni in which disaster managers experien	
most challenges	63
Table 6.2: Contents of the City of Ekurhuleni response plan	65
Table 6.3: Elements of KPA 4	66

# Acronyms

CoE - City of Ekurhuleni

- CI Critical Infrastructure
- DEMS Disaster and Emergency Management Services
- DMA Disaster Management Act
- GOs Governmental Organisations
- IFRC International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent
- UNISDR United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction
- UNOCHA United Nations for Disaster Risk Reduction
- NDMF National Disaster Management Framework
- NGOs Non-Governmental Organisations
- KPAs Key Performance Areas

# CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY

#### **1.1 Introduction**

Worldwide, there has been an increase in the number of people affected by disasters. Disasters are physical events or human activities that may lead to loss of lives or injuries, damage to properties and disruptions to the economic and social environment. They also lead to environmental degradation (Western Cape Government, 2015). Between the years 1996 and 2015, about 7 056 disasters were recorded worldwide by the Emergency Event Database (EM-DAT) and United Nations secretariat of the International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UNISDR, 2015). Almost 81.7 million people have been affected by different types of disasters with varying magnitudes (geophysical and weather-related) and above 1.3 million people have lost their lives to disasters globally (Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters (CRED), 2018). According to EM-DAT records, globally there were about 357 000 deaths between the years 2006 and 2015 (UNISDR, 2015). Ritchie (2014), states that, on average 60 000 people around the world, die yearly due to disasters.

This shows the need to design and implement humanitarian response that minimises the impacts of these events. *Humanitarian response* refers to the provision of immediate and short-term needs such as food, non-food items and first aid materials as a form of assistance to those who are affected by a disastrous event, to maintain life, improve health, and boost the morale of the victims (Todd and Todd, 2011; Al-Dahash, Thayaparan and Kulatunga, 2016). Globally, Governmental Organisations (GOs), in general, carry out this operation, in collaboration with Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs) such as the Red Cross/Red Crescent and private sectors (Cheema, Mehmood and Imran, 2016). Yet, these organisations face many challenges regarding humanitarian response around the world. The literature review chapter discusses in more detail the challenges encountered by humanitarian workers during humanitarian relief response operations.

According to Davis (2002), humanitarian response is politicised or hijacked by politician's interest around the world, which is contrary to the humanitarian team's interest. Humanitarian aid is based on the principle of need alone while politician's

interest is to elevate support base and popularity. Ferris (2008) concurs by stating that the United States (US) is a good example of how politicians view humanitarian aid. For the US, humanitarian response is an opportunity to pursue its political objectives or a war on terror. Despite this, humanitarian response organisations must remain devoted to assisting communities and reducing the effects of disasters.

With this in mind, it is the objective of this study to investigate challenges and the strategies implemented in resolving problems faced by the City of Ekurhuleni (CoE) disaster managers during the humanitarian response operations within their boundaries. Therefore, this chapter gave a description of the study area; the research context, which is the background of the study, the problem statement of the research, research questions and objectives to clarify the aims of the research and the rationale for the study. To help answer the afore-mentioned, the researcher described the research theory and research design and methodology. In conclusion, the researcher provided an outline of the entire study.

#### 1.2 Study area

Figure 1.1 below shows the map of the City of Ekurhuleni boundaries, wetlands, catchment boundaries, national roads, canals and industrial dams, main roads, and railways.



**Figure 1.1: City of Ekurhuleni jurisdiction** Source: City of Ekurhuleni Biodiversity Report (2008:11)

The City of Ekurhuleni is a metropolitan municipality that forms the local government of the East Rand region of Gauteng, South Africa. The City comprises three regions, which are Eastern, Southern, and Northern regions, and is home to more than 3.3 million people. According to the Ekurhuleni Institute of Higher Learning *Situational Analysis Report* (2017), the City's population comprises 6 percent of the national population and 24 percent of the population of Gauteng. Currently, the City is facing challenges in housing backlog, land invasion and in-migration, which has led to densification and growth in settlements (IDP, BUDGET & SDBIP, 2014/15-2016/17). The Metro is struggling to clear the housing backlog and the reform of the informal settlements due to population growth and in-migration (IDP, BUDGET & SDBIP, 2014/15-2016/17). Marutlulle (2017), states that the CoE has a housing backlog comprising 134 000 shacks in 122 informal settlements and 360 000 backyard shacks of which 80 percent of the 122 informal settlements have not been upgraded.

The City is famous for its infrastructure, an excellent transport network (airport and rail lines), telecommunication and energy grid. Its infrastructure rivals those in Europe and America. The transportation (O.R Tambo International Airport and Germiston railway) hubs connect the City to major population centres and ports in the Southern African region and the rest of the world (IDP, BUDGET & SDBIP, 2014/15-2016/17; Marutlulle, 2017). Population concentration and maior infrastructure makes the CoE vulnerable to the impacts of climate change and environmental degradation. Furthermore, the City falls within the summer rainfall region of South Africa, which makes the land conducive for commercial farming. Unfortunately, it also makes the City's vulnerable to torrential rainfall and thunderstorms, which account for major flooding events (Tyson and Preston-Whyte, 2000 cited in Ekurhuleni Metropolitan Municipality, 2015).

The City of Ekurhuleni disaster management centre is part of the Disaster and Emergency Management Services (DEMS), which is one of the 26 departments of the Metropolitan Municipality. One Head of Department (HoD) leads the DEMS department and he is in charge of Disaster Management Services, Emergency Medical Services, Support Services and Governance Compliance Services. The HOD acts as both Fire Chief and Head of the Disaster Management Centre.

The HOD delegates responsibility to head of divisions in the department including the disaster management centre to carry some of his functions. The disaster management centre has emergency call taking centres and three-dispatch centres spread per each region. The following organisational chart illustrates the structure of the CoE disaster management centre and its chain of command.

# **Illustration Chart**



#### Figure 1.2: An illustration chart of CoE disaster management structure.

According to a senior disaster manager in the CoE disaster management centre, the call centre operates 24 hours a day and is manned by 56 call centre agents. On the chart at the bottom right corner, the first block is the disaster centre manager and there are two disaster centre managers in the centre - one responsible for major disasters while the other is responsible for safety matters. The dispatching centres also operate 24 hours a day. The second block (regional, Northern) – is said to be manned by 36 call dispatchers divided into 4 shifts and 4 disaster managers. The third block (regional, Eastern) – is manned by 35 call dispatchers divided into 4 shifts

and 4 disaster managers while the fourth block (regional, Southern) – is manned by 36 call dispatchers divided into 4 shifts and 3 disaster managers. This brings the number of disaster managers in the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management centre to 15 including the executive manager and the head of the centre. Forty-seven disaster managers are required in the centre, which means that there are 32 disaster managers' vacant posts in the CoE disaster management centre. In short the centre runs on one-third (1/3) of staff (disaster managers).

#### 1.3 Background

Disaster management teams reach to the survivors of disaster by provide emotional and physical assistance. At times, the teams have to deal with dangerous and demanding situations during disaster events including other challenging matters (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA, 2018). A single disaster event can overstretch humanitarian aid and workers beyond their capacity such as the current crises, the pandemic (COVID-19) which is causing havoc across South Africa and the rest of the world.

The South Africa's Disaster Management Act (DMA), No. 57 of 2002 (as amended by Disaster Management Amendment Act, No. 16 of 2015) states that Municipalities (Metropolitan and District) are mandated to manage a local disaster within their jurisdiction. According to the Disaster Management Act (DMA) (Republic of South Africa, 2002), Following a disaster, municipalities are expected to do the following:

- Release any available resources of the municipality, including stores, equipment, vehcles, and facilities to assist and protect its populace;
- Implement a municipal disaster management plan that is applicable in the circumstances to prevent or combat disruptions and other effects of the disaster;
- Evacute people who are severly affected by the event to temporary shelters to prevent an escalation of the disaster;
- Regulate the movement of people and relief goods to, from, or within the disaster area; and
- Provide and control the use of temporary emergency accommodation.shelter

The South African National Disaster Management Framework (NDMF) of (2005), Key Performance Area (KPA) 4, states that in the case of a disaster, a response management system must be implemented to ensure the effective utilisation of the resources, procedures and facilities to maximise response. When difficulties arise during response operations, people, households and communities who are supposed to benefit from the aid might not receive the much-needed help.

There have been studies' regarding challenges encountered during this critical phase of disaster management. In their studies, AL-Dahash, Thayaparan, and Kulatunga (2016) found that several respondents criticised humanitarian response for being weak and time-consuming. Srivastava (2010) argues that the community benefits most if the assistance is concrete, explicit and direct as it enables them to attain basic needs they have lost due to the disaster.

However, the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers experience challenges when carrying out their duties. The problems include accessibility of some areas due to improper structuring mostly in informal settlements or roads that are not passable. AL-Dahash, Thayaparan, and Kulatunga (2016) wrote that informal traders such as fruits and vegetables, scrap yards, and other business who operate on the side of the road and prohibited areas are the cause of impassable roads in some incidences. Market stalls on the side of already narrowed and unpaved or unlevelled streets delay humanitarian assistance to reach victims on time and exacerbates survivor's vulnerability (Baidoo, 2018). Like any residents, CoE residents are entitled to assistance (physical, mental and emotional) during disaster events regardless of their status. However, the challenges disaster managers encounter while providing the much-needed help during disaster events affect the city's residents negatively.

Local officials such as religious leaders and councillors or local actors such as Community Based Organisations (CBOs) with limited knowledge in humanitarian actions interfere with the humanitarian response (AL-Dahash, Thayaparan, and Kulatunga, 2016; Marcos and Thieux, 2019). Tipper (2016) reviewed some of the challenges encountered during humanitarian response operations. Corrupt officials are a challenge. For example, the agitators want humanitarian assets and the relief goods for their use, or sometimes they would try to prevent the distribution of relief goods by threatening humanitarian responders (Tipper, 2016). In some cases, affected communities expectations were higher than their immediate needs (food, temporary shelter, medical assistance including temporary solutions such as a tarpaulin over a hole on a roof) creating tension between them and the CoE disaster managers (Marcos and Thieux, 2019). In 2016, Makause informal settlement, Boksburg, experienced the displacement of 105 people when parts of the CoE (Edenvale, Benoni and Boksburg) were flooded by torrential rain. During the response activities by CoE disaster managers the Mayoral spokesperson was interviewed by Germiston City News to report on the progress and challenges they were encountering. On the 15<sup>th</sup> of November 2016, the paper reported that according to the Mayoral spokesperson some of the challenges identified included, "*the victims refusing temporary accommodation in fear of losing their belongings which remained trapped in their structures*" (Germiston City News, 2016). This and other challenges create a barrier between the City's populace and its disaster managers when discharging their responsibilities.

The DMA of South Africa states that the municipal disaster management centre should prepare a plan setting out expected climate change impacts and risks for the municipality. The NDMF expects municipalities to improve, review and update their response plans annually, yet, the policy and legislation does not discuss anything or provide any guidance on how to deal with humanitarian response challenges. Considering the importance of humanitarian response, it is also important to investigate strategies to deal with the afore-mentioned challenges to provide recommendations that can ensure a more efficient and effective humanitarian response. Thus, this study seeks to investigate the challenges encountered during relief operations and strategies implemented by the CoE in resolving the challenges encountered during the operation (humanitarian response) in their jurisdiction.

#### **1.4 Problem statement**

Efficient and effective humanitarian response leads to a positive outcome when a disaster occurs (Srivastava, 2010). However, in most cases, CoE disaster managers face challenges during humanitarian operations. Challenges that arise during this critical stage are likely to derail the response management system causing those affected by the event not to benefit from the response by receiving the much-needed assistance. There is no provision of a detailed plan in the case of the CoE for dealing with the challenges encountered when carrying out their duties. This leads to the

need to identify challenges experienced by CoE disaster managers during humanitarian operations and how they are addressed. Such an investigation will help the researcher to present recommendations that contribute to efficient and effective humanitarian response.

The researcher's background as an emergency care practitioner and fire fighter played a role in the decision to conduct research to find solutions to the challenges faced during disaster response in the CoE. CoE residents have been at the receiving end of calamities such as tornadoes, floods and shack fires for a long time.

#### 1.5 Research questions

The research project is underpinned by the following question:

Could a humanitarian response plan effectively be used as a tool for addressing disaster response challenges faced by disaster managers in the City of Ekurhuleni?

The following sub-research questions are to guide the researcher to answer the research question:

- i.) What response challenges do City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers' encounter when responding to disaster incidents?
- ii.) Does the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management center have a humanitarian response plan to address the challenges?
- iii.) Does the South African disaster management legislation and policy prescribe guidelines on addressing humanitarian response challenges?
- iv.) What are the recommendations for addressing the challenges encountered by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers' when responding to disaster incidents?

# 1.6 Objectives of the study

The study has primary and secondary objectives.

# 1.6.1 Primary objective

The primary objective is twofold, the study intends to investigate the challenges CoE managers experience during a humanitarian response as well as assess the strategies they implement to resolve the challenges.

#### 1.6.2 Secondary objectives

To address the primary objective, the following secondary objectives were formulated:

- i.) To examine the response challenges encountered by CoE disaster managers when responding to catastrophes;
- ii.) To evaluate the humanitarian response plan used to address the challenges faced by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management centre
- iii.) To evaluate South African disaster management legislation and policy regarding humanitarian response challenges; and
- iv.) To suggest recommendations for addressing the challenges encountered by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers' based on the research findings.

# 1.7 Research design and methodology

This section briefly outlines the research design and methodology used in the study, and is discussed fully in Chapter 5. Information on population and sample would not be included in the research design and methodology. According to Zickmund (2015), a research design is a plan of action used to approach a research problem. The research design highlights the appropriate data collection methods among other things. It provides the overall strategy used to collect and analyse data, thereby ensuring the researcher will effectively address the research problem. The research design constitutes the blueprint for the collection, measurement, and analysis of data (Yin, 2014). It plays an important role in outlining the methods used in gathering data, the tools and their administration.

According to Merriam-Webster (2020), methodology refers to "*a set of methods, rules, or ideas*", employed by a discipline which encompasses concepts such as a paradigm. While Kivunja & Kuyini (2017) defines paradigm as, "*the conceptual lens through which the researcher examines the methodological aspects of their research project to determine the research methods that will be used and how the data will be analysed*". Goundar (2012) argues that research methodology is a method or procedure used by researchers to "*describe, explain and predict phenomena*".

#### 1.7.1 Research design approach

The qualitative approach was chosen to explore the challenges experienced by CoE disaster managers and the strategies implemented to resolve the challenges. The

approach focuses on increasing the depth of understanding of a phenomenon or developing new and refining existing models (Creswell, 2013). Bhandari (2020) further argues that this method involves gathering and analysing non-numerical data to understand concepts, opinions, or experiences. Hammarberg, Kirkman and de Lacey (2016) argue that qualitative research techniques can be used to *"investigate beliefs, attitudes and concepts of normative behavior"*.

# 1.7.2 Target population

Lawson (2015) defines a target population as the entire set of people who have information needed to understand the research problem. The target population in this study constituted all disaster managers in the CoE disaster management centre including the head of the centre. Disaster managers and the head of the centre were targeted because they had the required in-depth knowledge of the subject matter. Due to the size of the target population, phenomenological approach is uniquely positioned to support this inquiry. According to Moser & Korstjens (2018), fewer than 10 participants are adequate in phenomenological studies to explore the challenges experienced. Therefore, the CoE disaster management centre is deemed to have sufficient disaster managers to address the research question at hand.

#### 1.7.3 Data collection tools

Data collection is viewed by Kabir (2016) as a "process of gathering and measuring information on variables of interest, in an established systematic fashion that enables one to answer stated research questions". Therefore, the study utilised face-to-face interview as presented by Trigueros, Juan, and Sandoval (2017) to gather information. The procedure gave the researcher the opportunity to conduct intensive interviews with individuals to explore their experiences and their way of interpreting the problem (Boyce & Neale, 2006). Strict Covid-19 preventative measures such as wearing of a face mask; physical distancing and sanitising of hands were adhered to while conducting the interviews. In some instance Zoom technology was used to access managers working from home.

#### 1.7.4 Data analysis

Durcevic (2020) alludes to data analysis as a "process that relies on methods and techniques to taking raw data, mining for insights that are relevant to the business's primary goals". In short, it is the summary of the collected data. Thematic analysis method was utilised to minimise the volume of texts collected. According to Caulfied

(2019), this method is applied to a set of texts, such as interview transcripts to identify common themes – topics, ideas and patterns. It involves reading and reviewing all data collected to code, group, and relate different ideas (O'Connor & Gibson, 2003). Chapter five of this study elaborates more on data analysis.

#### 1.7.5 Reliability and validity

According to Anderson (2010), the findings are said to be reliable if they can be reproduced, while validity is the extent to which the findings are an accurate representation of the phenomena they are intended to represent. Leung (2015) refers to validity in research as the appropriateness of the tools, process and data, while reliability refers to the consistency of employed analytical procedures (Noble & Smith, 2015). As the study used an interview method to gather the data, the questions were tested for content validity by conducting a pre-test before the interviews to evaluate whether the questions effectively capture the topic under investigation.

During data analysis, the researcher ensured that contradictory evidence was examined to manage researcher's bias. Secondary data from the CoE disaster management centre reports was reviewed to examine past challenges faced during humanitarian response activities.

#### **1.8 Conceptual framework**

A conceptual framework is used to underpin the study. According to Adom, Hussein, and Adu-Agyem (2018), a conceptual framework is a "*structure which the researcher believes can best explain the natural progression of the phenomenon to be studied*". The responsibility of disaster managers among others is lending a hand to those severely affected by disasters. In the event of a disaster, all stakeholders involved in disaster management act to assist those who are negatively affected by the event.

Disaster management organisations are expected to make proper preparations to ensure that the severe effects of a disaster are effectively reduced (Ferry, 2017; International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent (IFRC, 2018). The disaster management cycle illustrates the ongoing process by which these stakeholders ensure that communities prepare for, react during, mitigate and recover after a disaster event. The view of the researcher is that without a strong disaster response plan in place, obstacles will hamper the humanitarian response operation. Therefore, effective disaster management is dependent on a good disaster response plan and availability of resources. Chapter 2 will provide more background and discussions around the 'response' concept.

#### **1.9 Ethical clearance**

The researcher ensured that the participants' right to privacy was observed during the data collection process (Babbie & Mouton, 2004). Confidential records such as company, personal records and communications records were protected (Resnik, 2015). A research information leaflet was provided for participants and both the researcher and participants signed the consent form before interviews. The results of the research and new ideas were shared with the participants and it will be available to the public when Ekurhuleni internal newspaper to publish them. Furthermore, the researcher ensured that data is not fabricated or misrepresented.

#### 1.10 Delimitation of the study

The study focused on the challenges faced by CoE disaster managers during humanitarian response operations. Therefore, this study confines itself to interviewing CoE disaster managers concerning humanitarian response operations in their jurisdiction only. The research participants were taken from the CoE disaster management centre.

The reason is to improve the standard of the CoE humanitarian response plan by revealing findings and recommendations derived from the research.

#### 1.11 Limitations of the study

- Implementation of the data collection method due to the researcher's lack of experience in primary data collection, there was a chance that the nature of the implementation of the data collection method may be flawed. However, the application of validity and reliability mechanisms resolved this limitation.
- Discussion and interpretation –to counter the researcher's lack of experience in conducting and producing research papers, discussions and interpretation in this study were compared to the works of experienced researchers'.
- Contradictory evidence Researcher bias and participants being aware that their work is under study might lead to the collection of superficial information and bending the information to present a positive image of the center.

However, in-depth semi-structured interview and probe questioning resolved this limitation.

# 1.12 Defition of terms

The following key terms in the study are given operational definitions to make issues clearer and to allow the reader to make sense of what is presented.

# 1.12.1 Disaster manager/practitioner

Disaster manager/practitioner is a person who is entrusted with the responsibilities of plainning, preparing for, responding to, and come up with procedures to coordinate relevant organs of state to manage disasters. They also conduct training exercises to ensure that communities are ready for any possible disaster.

#### 1.12.2 Humanitarian worker

Humanitarian worker (also known as aid worker) refers to individuals who operate in front-line conditions during disaster. The work include assessing the damage caused by the disaster, distributing aid materials, and managing the overall disaster activities and monitoring their effectiveness.

#### 1.12.3 Relief worker

Relief worker develop and refine disaster response plans, coordinate logistics for carring out response plans. They evacuate people who are severly affected by the disaster to safe shelters, and ensures that affected people get their immediate needs such as food, medicine, and other suppliers.

#### 1.12.4 Disaster

The Disaster Management Act (DMA) (Republic of South Africa, 2002) characterises a disaster as a 'progressive or sudden, widespread or localised' event, which can be caused by nature or man, which exceeds the coping capacity of individuals and communities using their own resources. A disaster causes or threatens to damage the environment, infrastructure, property, death and injuries and has potential to disrupt the life of a society

#### 1.12.5 Disaster Response

Disaster response is the immediate phase following a disaster event in the disaster management cycle. The aim of the disaster response is to provide immediate

assistance to maintain life, improve health and support the morale of those severlyle affected by the disaster.

## 1.12.6 Disaster Relief

Disater relief are the process of responding to a disaster event, providing immediate aid such as food and shelter to badly affected people. It involves supporting and rebuilding communities after a disaster has occurred.

# 1.13 Chapter outline

The study was divided into seven chapters and each chapter tackled a section of the study being undertaken. Chapter 1 introduced the layout of the research report and gave detailed information on how the research project was conducted to achieve the aim and objectives of the project. Chapter 2 introduces the relevant conceptual framework and gives a critical analysis of the response phase and rapid assessment. International and national legislation is reviewed in Chapter 3. Scholarly articles and research documents are unpacked in Chapter 4. The processes used to collect data for the study; data analysis and interpretation of the results are discussed in Chapter 5. The results, discussion and interpretation of findings are presented in Chapter 6. Chapter 7 presents the conclusions and recommendations derived from Chapter 6.

#### **1.14 Conclusion**

This chapter outlined the summary of the thesis by highlighting some of the challenges encountered by the CoE disaster managers during disaster relief operations in their jurisdictions. The chapter described the study area in terms of population and infrastructure vulnerability and it briefly reflected on the challenges that the researcher might face when collecting and analysing data.

The research design and methodology of the study was also discussed briefly as well as the instrument to be used in collecting data and the research ethics. In Chapter 2, the emphasis is on the conceptual framework.

# **CHAPTER 2: CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK**

#### 2.1 Introduction

To understand the nature of human related and natural catastrophes, multiple bodies of knowledge that belong to different disciplines are required (Jabareen, 2009). A multidisciplinary approach is required to respond to such events, as the events demand resources and capabilities of individuals, groups and communities to ensure an effective response. Worldwide, the disaster management cycle has become a crucial instrument in a bid to avoid or reduce disaster impacts (Coetzee & Van Niekerk, 2012).

According to Tamene (2016), a conceptual framework is an important element of disciplined inquiry. Plakhotnik (2009) argues that the main aim of a conceptual framework is to describe concepts applicable to the phenomena. A conceptual framework is a concept that is already out there (Tamene, 2016). Therefore, disaster management cycle is the structure or concept that can best help to understand disaster response. The disaster management cycle can help disaster managers to develop and decide on strategies and specific tactics to combat challenges encountered during disaster risk reduction and response. For example, disaster management is a sequential and continuous process of planning, hence, the word 'cycle' and disaster response plan is among the important elements to be considered at all stages during disaster management (Vijayan, Iyer and Mastorakis, 2006).

This chapter explores the disaster management cycle together with its advantages and disadvantages to understand what disaster response entails.

#### 2.2 Disaster management cycle

The disaster management cycle is the most relevant conceptual framework to help achieve the study's objective of identifying remedies for challenges encountered during humanitarian response operations. Asghar, Alahakoon and Churilov (2006), highlight four main reasons why the disaster management cycle can be useful:

- It simplifies complex events and is useful when responding to disasters with time constraints.
- It quantifies disaster events.

- It allows active coordination and collaboration during relief and recovery efforts.
- It facilitates the planning process and the comprehensive completion of disaster management plans.

The reasons listed above are key activities, programmes and measures to put in place before, during and after the disaster event to reduce the impacts of the event on the populace. According to Sithole (2014), disaster management incorporates all parts of the arrangement before a disaster (pre-disaster), during a disaster (occurrence of disaster), and after a disaster (post-disaster). It involves multiple processes of active coordination and collaboration between Governmental Organisations (GOs), Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs), private sectors, and communities (Cheema, Mehmood and Imran, 2016).

According to Coetzee & Van Niekerk (2012), there are various disaster management cycles that are used to manage disasters, some cycles comprise of six, five, or four stages while others comprise of two over-arching phases. What is common about the cycles is that they are divided into activities before, during and after a disaster. Figure 2.1 below shows the ongoing process of six stages of the disaster management cycle by which GOs, NGOs, private sectors and communities plan for and react to the catastrophes. These include policies, guiding procedures and arrangements to reduce the effects of catastrophes before, during and after the event (AL-Dahash, Thayaparan and Kulatunga, 2016; Cheema, Mehmood and Imran, 2016).



#### Figure 2.1 Phases of disaster management Source: Modified from Phillips (2009)

According to Drabek (2004), disaster managers can implement strategies and specific tactics through functions such as response, recovery, development, prevention, mitigation and preparedness for every hazard.

#### 2.2.1 Phases of the Disaster Management Cycle

The stages of the disaster management cycle are discussed briefly in the next section.

#### 2.2.1.1 Disaster

The Disaster Management Act (DMA) (Republic of South Africa, 2002) characterises a disaster as a 'progressive or sudden, widespread or localised' event, which can be caused by nature or man, which exceeds the coping capacity of individuals and communities using their own resources. A disaster causes or threatens to damage the environment, infrastructure, property, death and injuries and has potential to disrupt the life of a society. Sena & Michael (2006) define a disaster as an event that forces a community into acute deprivation of food and other necessities to such an extent that the normal functioning of that community is disrupted and it cannot recover without outside intervention. The event results from a combination of a hazard, condition of vulnerability, and a lack of capacity to minimise the potential impacts of the risk (Republic of South Africa, 2005).

#### 2.2.1.2 Response

Disaster response is the immediate phase following a disaster event. It focuses on lessening the effects of the event on those severely affected by providing basic subsistence needs to preserve life and ensure that they are not left exposed to the event (Republic of South Africa, 2005). The focus is to cater for the basic needs of the affected population during such calamities until sustainable solutions can be found (Baidoo, 2018). The first consideration during the disaster response phase is the preservation of life. The disaster response phase is a critical stage in the disaster management cycle because it involves taking care of victims of catastrophes by offering humanitarian assistance (United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA), 2018; AL-Dahash, Thayaparan and Kulatunga (2016); Cheema, Mehmood and Imran, 2016)).

Disaster response includes activities like warning/evacuation and assessment of damage and restoration or construction of infrastructure, communities, institutions, industries and businesses. The focus during the response phase is on minimising the effects caused by a disaster event by providing immediate and short-term needs such as food, temporary shelter and medical assistance to maintain life, improve health and boost the morale of the victims (Todd and Todd, 2011; AL-Dahash, Thayaparan and Kulatunga, 2016).

The terms 'disaster response', 'disaster relief', and 'humanitarian response' are often used inter-changeably because there is no distinction between them. The terms share the common belief of the need to assist those negatively impacted by natural and human-induced disaster events. Furthermore, these terms all share similar features. For example, each involves preparing, providing support, and helping societies to rebuild lives in times of unforeseen event(s). Lastly, each is underpinned by these principles: humanity, neutrality and impartiality to deliver life-saving assistance to those in need without any adverse distinction (UNOCHA, 2012; United Nations for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR), 2007; United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UNISDR), 2015; Parmar, 2012).

Baidoo (2018) states that *disaster response* should meet the immediate basic needs of victims while a more permanent and sustainable solution will follow after. According to Pan American Health Organisation (PAHO) (1999), humanitarian assistance can be beneficial or effective if disaster managers can follow some of these principles:

- Do not stereotype disasters disaster managers must know that the effects of disasters differ due to the economy and infrastructure in the area.
- Observe procedures for communication, coordination and supervision disaster managers must have regular meetings with other humanitarian stakeholders including communities in their jurisdiction.
- Assess needs disaster managers must assess the specific type of assistance that is needed, bearing in mind that a delay in identifying the needs will result in delayed assistance.
- The assistance should complement not duplicate this can be achieved through well-coordinated humanitarian assistance to avoid chaos among aid agencies.

UNISDR (2008) characterises disaster relief as the, "provision of assistance or intervention immediately after and during a disaster to meet the life preservation and basic subsistence needs of the affected population". It consists of the delivery of specific and quality of goods to those affected by a disaster (UNISDR, 2015). Assistance includes goods such:

- *Food* that is culturally and nutritionally appropriate for affected people.
- First aid material immediate practical assistance such as ensuring that those whose are injured get help and are transported to the nearest health care facility and those on chronic medication like hypertension and diabetes get their medication to maintain their health.

 Non-food items – in the form of clothing, blankets, bedding, water containers and hygiene products.

*Humanitarian response/assistance* refers to the provision of material and logistic assistance to those affected by a disastrous event to meet their immediate needs. Assistance can be in the form of food, temporary shelter, medical assistance and temporary solutions such as a tarpaulin over a hole on a roof to save lives, alleviate suffering and maintain human dignity (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), 2018).

Humanitarian response aims to reverse the negative effects caused by a catastrophic event, which means its immediate objective should be to save lives, reduce human suffering and maintain people's dignity, especially the most vulnerable groups such as children, elderly and frail and low-income groups. This is likely to include provision of first aid, tea and coffee. The effects include health (psychological, disease and injuries), properties and infrastructural damage, loss of life, which requires different types of interventions (Tollen, 2013; Kayden, 2013). During disasters such as shack fires people loss their shelter, reserved food, medications and experience trauma. To assist in such situations, different kinds of skills or strategies are needed to deal with any challenge that may arise while providing relief assistance.

#### 2.2.1.3 Recovery

Disaster recovery focuses on rebuilding and offering long-term assistance and it involves a set of policies and procedures to assist victims of disaster to bounce back (Baidoo, 2018). According to the Republic of South Africa (2005), the objective during recovery stage should be to restore or improve the pre-disaster living conditions of the victims, and at the same time encourage and hasten necessary adjustments to reduce disaster risks (Republic of South Africa, 2005). Lindel (2013) characterises disaster recovery in three distinct phases:

- i.) It involves the restoration of disrupted normal activities of the community due to the event;
- ii.) Its aim is to stabilise disaster conditions until the community has returned to normal; and
- iii.) It involves helping the community to return to normal routines.

Lastly, disaster recovery includes the recovery of services such as health, education and any other vital life-support systems.

## 2.2.1.4 Development/ Rehabilitation

This stage focuses on improving well-being of affected population through the promotion of sustainable livelihoods and their protection and recovery during a disaster (Messer, 2003) as cited by (Phillips, 2009). The disaster development/ rehabilitation phase addresses the protection of basic needs, equity and the redistribution of wealth (Republic of South Africa, 2005). In short, it is the restoration of basic social functions (Sena & Michael, 2006).

# 2.2.1.5 Prevention

According to the National Disaster Management Framework (NDMF) (Republic of South Africa, 2005), disaster prevention refers to activities and measures used to stop a disaster from occurring or preventing the hazard from becoming a disaster by minimising environmental degradation, technological and biological hazards. It is the actions implemented to eliminate the root causes that puts the community at risk and is based on hazard identification (actual threat) and vulnerability assessment (evaluation of risk and capacity of a community to respond) (Sena & Michael, 2006).

#### 2.2.1.6 Mitigation

According to the DMA (Republic of South Africa, 2002), mitigation refers to all proactive measures (structural and non-structural) to eliminate or minimise the adverse impacts including the risks associated with impending hazards. It is an attempt made to reduce the harmful effects of a possible disaster and to limit their impact on human suffering and economic assets (Sena & Michael, 2006). This includes limiting environmental degradation and technological hazards in vulnerable areas, societies and households.

# 2.2.1.7 Preparedness

The NDMF (Republic of the South Africa, 2005) defines disaster preparedness as the activities and measures taken before the occurrence of a disaster to prepare for and ensure effective disaster response to reduce the impacts of the event. It involves predicting and preventing a disaster if possible and/or mitigating its impact on vulnerable populations so that they can effectively cope with the consequences of the event if happens. The activities include early warnings, temporary evacuation of community or individuals and properties from endangered areas. In short, disaster preparedness refers to 'a state of readiness' whereby GOs, NGOs, private sectors and communities mobilise, organise and provide relief measures to deal with the effects of the threatening event (Republic of South Africa, 2002).

## 2.2.2 Critical analysis of the response phase

The disaster response phase is the most appropriate phase when it comes to humanitarian parameters. The study pays special attention to the process of disaster response during a phenomenon. Immediately after a disaster event, emergency services personnel such as fire fighters, ambulance crews and disaster managers receive calls to respond to the incident. The first disaster management crews to arrive on the incident scene are expected to do the following:

- i.) Rapid assessment;
- ii.) Make decisions based on professional judgement;
- iii.) Evaluate the decision ;and
- iv.) Command/Implementation.

#### 2.2.2.1 Rapid assessment

Rapid assessment according to the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC & RC) (2017) refers to a quick assessment of the extent and impact of the damage (the needs) caused by the disaster. It assesses the degree of vulnerability of people and their capacity to meet their immediate survival needs. Rapid assessment is carried out immediately after a disaster event (as early as a few hours after the event) to get information on the needs of victims, the possible course of action and resource requirements (Arii, 2013; IFRC, 2017). According to Arii (2013), the objective should not be to conduct a detailed survey, but to get a broad picture of the damage and identify the basic needs of the affected community that would require external intervention.

The Methodology Rapid Assessment for Humanitarian Assistance (2006) states that rapid assessment should answer questions such as the following:

• What happened? Disaster managers should be able to describe the event;
- Who is affected? Analyse an incident to determine the nature and extent of the problem and give a clear picture of the subjects or objects affected;
- What is the impact? People, environment or property and the level of suffering caused by the event, number of people affected and their demographic characteristics;
- Why intervene? Develop a defensive plan of action to address the problems presented by the incident (response plan). What are the immediate needs which might not be met by those affected (lack of capacity) and the objective of the intervention;
- How to intervene? Initiate a plan to lessen the harm caused by the incident, taking into consideration safety issues (security), access and coordination of response actions.

#### 2.2.2.2 Making decisions based on professional judgment

According to Cohen (2015), professional judgement refers to, "applying knowledge, skills and experience, in a way that is informed by professional standards, laws and ethical principles, to develop an opinion or decision about what should be done to best serve clients". The mission of disaster management is to save and protect lives and properties and alleviate suffering during catastrophic event(s). Therefore, after doing a rapid assessment, disaster managers should apply their professional knowledge, skills and expertise to identify concerns (lives, properties and needs) to make a decision.

Decisions include whether to remove the affected population from the situation, to leave them to cope using their own resources, or to assist the community to cope with the impacts of the event. Ivan (2016) states that in the event where professional judgement is challenged, the use of proper documented procedures can be useful to analyse facts, circumstances and alternatives. In addition, when processes are documented it is much easier to defend and support the decision (Ivan, 2016). This emphasises the importance of a detailed disaster response plan, which clearly defines responsibilities and specific actions to follow during disaster response operations including the communication channels to be used. Accurate, timely and useful information and instructions to people during a disastrous event is important. A disaster response plan should specify procedures for making a decision during a

rapid onset and slow onset disaster event(s) to save lives and properties and to reduce damages and protect the population and the environment.

#### 2.2.2.3 Evaluate the decision

During disaster events, people's lives and properties are at risk and they require disaster response that is timely and effective. A disaster response that is timely and effective in the face of a disaster is dependent on the decision taken immediately after rapid assessment. The decision plays a critical role for both disaster managers and the affected community. When it comes to a disaster event, a decision can either save more lives and prevent the situation from spreading to other areas or worsen the situation causing more casualties, secondary disaster such as epidemics especially after flooding or drought event, and/ or the disaster can spread to other areas.

This calls for an evaluation of a decision before it can be implemented. When it comes to humanitarian response, evaluation should generate credible evidence that is sufficient to answer questions about the implementation process. It must also address questions about the relevance and coherence of interventions, their adaptation to the context, cause-and-effect concerns and their contribution to the results.

Questions such as:

- i.) Is this action appropriate for this kind of situation? To remove or not to remove;
- ii.) Will this action make a difference? Quality of service and material used;
- iii.) What are we hoping to achieve with this action? The intention.
- iv.) Is there an alternative action to achieve the objective? Variety of options (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), 2016).

An evaluation that answers the above questions is said to be credible and timely, is informed by evidence and can positively influence planning and implementation (UNHCR, 2016).

#### 2.2.2.4 Command/Implementation

A decision that is not implemented will not achieve its objective. Command is the process where disaster managers turn strategies and plans into actions to achieve

the objectives and desired goals (Olsen, 2020). After implementation of a decision, the progress needs to be monitored to see if it achieves its objective and goal. During the process, disaster managers should revisit the decision-making process to re-evaluate the action and alternatives. This will help them to avoid being rigid because rigidity might cause tension between them and the community they intend to service if the strategy or plan is not working.

With priorities set, the next question is how can the priorities be executed? Efficient execution of the task will determine the level of assistance offered to the victims. Arii (2013) argues that efficient execution of the priorities should improve the quality and speed of the operation. Stikova (2016) provides a summary of the tactical operation during disastrous events. Soon after incident analysis, disaster managers are expected to do the following:

- Ensuring victims security;
- Bring in food parcel;
- Making water available;
- Provide temporary shelter for worse affected individuals and sanitation;
- Bring in non-food items (clothes and blankets); and
- Ensure that victims have access to health services.

The strategies or tactics used in a disaster relief operation rests on the nature of the calamity, lives involved and the type of critical infrastructure under threat (Mijalković and Cvetković, 2013). Rapid assessment is the key to improving ability, capability and speed during the humanitarian response (Baidoo, 2018). However, if the rapid assessment is not done properly then the disaster managers are bound to experience problems during the relief operation. IFRC (2017) highlights that, "*a poorly conducted rapid assessment is likely to lead to poor planning decisions and an inadequate response*". The local municipality according to the Disaster Management Act, No. 57 of 2002 (as amended by Disaster Management Amendment Act, No. 16 of 2015) has responsibility to ensure that a disaster is well managed within its jurisdiction. Therefore, an effective humanitarian response must be achieved irrespective of the challenges encountered during the operation process. The current population growth in the CoE, which is alluded to be the cause of dense and unplanned settlements, presents disaster managers with tremendous

challenges during disaster relief operations. The execution of the processes highlighted above should assist the City's disaster managers to manage any challenge that might arise during a disaster response phase within the Metropolitan Municipality.

#### 2.2.3 Advantages of the disaster management cycle

The disaster management cycle is an ongoing process for planning and putting measures together to minimise or prevent the hazard from becoming a disaster. It is a framework for responding to man-made and natural hazards, reducing the effects and assisting those affected to recover from the impact of the disastrous events. The cycle offers a balanced approach, which is both proactive for disaster risk reduction as well as a reactive approach to disaster management. The disaster management cycle is organised according to activities before a disaster (prevention, mitigation and preparedness) and activities after the event (response, recovery and rehabilitation). Before a disaster, pre-disaster planning is a practical and necessary component of disaster management. It focuses on reducing the probability of the event from happening and strengthening the resilience of individuals, communities and businesses through building preparedness capabilities prior to the disaster in case the hazard becomes a disaster.

The pre-disaster planning focuses on activities such as early warning, education, training and awareness raising programmes which are an important aspect of reducing the hazard and preparing for a tragedy. These activities are meant to reduce the vulnerability of the affected communities by helping them to put necessary measures to protect themselves, their livelihood and their properties. Protection mechanisms reduce the effects and probability of loss that might be caused by the hazard, most importantly it enhances community resilience. For example, the CoE is vulnerable to disasters such as tornadoes, storms and floods. Activities like early warning systems, training and awareness programmes when put in place, equip people to be resilient against risks. Measures may include reinforcing shelters or part of the house and people can also design structures that have safe places such as basements that can be used during storms and tornado events.

Pre-disaster planning is the foundation for preparing, reducing and preventing new disaster risks to ensure safety of the populace. A rapid and effective disaster

response is easier when all parties involved in disaster management engage in predisaster planning because the planning include actions that facilitate the delivery of relief assistance. The good thing is that, when structural and non-structural safety measures are implemented, disaster managers will not run into problems when responding to disaster events because the damages will be minimal and communities will not be expecting much from them.

Moreover, the cycle provides guiding procedures in a situation where the hazard turns into a disaster (after a disaster). The post disaster phase does not only focus on immediate needs but it encourages the parties to look at long term solutions. The post-disaster planning puts emphasis on immediate (food and shelter) and long-term needs (policies and procedures) to allow the victims to fit back into the society including to rebuild better. When this sequence is followed, the affected community bounces back stronger than it was before the event and the chances of another disastrous event becomes minimal and if it does happen resilience is enhanced.

#### 2.2.4 Disadvantages of the disaster management cycle

If the disaster management cycle is to achieve satisfactory disaster risks reduction, there is a need to prioritise human, social, financial and physical capital assets. The disaster management cycle does not pay enough attention to these assets and they play an important role in the vulnerability of individuals, households and communities in the presence of hazards. For example, disaster managers can do rigorous warning, training and awareness campaigns regarding the hazard but if the affected people lack the ability and means to cope with the present hazard, nothing will change.

Inadequate attention to the capital assets pushes more people to unplanned and unsafe settlements which are prone to disasters. The following are the capital or livelihood assets that exacerbate vulnerability and risk, and most of the time people find themselves making trade-offs and choices about (Serrat, 2017):

*Human capital* – poor health, nutrition and incapacity to adapt cannot be overlooked when it comes to strengthening the resilience of communities. These are underlying causes of vulnerability and they need to be addressed accordingly because they contribute to disaster risk.

Social capital – impertinent of social factors such as collective groups, networks, shared values and behavior of people will derail any programme that is meant for disaster risk reduction.

*Financial capital* – savings and wages determine people's attitude and perception. People will always choose risk areas where they can make a living to survive than to relocate to areas where there is no means of living.

*Physical capital* – roads, water supply and sanitation, energy and communication, these are community needs. If not there, people will make a plan to get them. For example, it is pointless to warn people who reside in dense informal settlements about shack fires while there is no supply of electricity in the area. People will not stop using make-shift stoves to warm themselves during winter or unlawful connect electricity.

Furthermore, during the post-disaster planning phase the priority is on restoration and reconstruction of damaged infrastructure. According to UNISDR & UNOCHA (2008), restoration and reconstruction is the rebuilding of the conditions of risk that existed before the disaster. Therefore, the disaster management cycle in this context resembles a driver who drives a car constantly looking in the rear mirror and hoping to reach his/her destination safely. Alternatives must be identified to solve the problems (Seneviratne et al, 2011).

#### 2.3 Conclusion

This chapter explored the disaster management cycle as the conceptual framework that underpinned this study. It outlined the processes of disaster response by giving a critical analysis of the response phase and decision-making. Disaster managers must consider all the stages of the disaster management cycle and rapid assessment to design a strategy or specific tactic operation that will ensure effective humanitarian operation. When all of the above is adhered to, disaster managers will be able to overcome any challenges during the relief operation and this in turn should translate into overall efficient and effective disaster response of the calamity at hand. A literature review of international and national policy is presented in Chapter 3.

### **CHAPTER 3: LEGISLATION AND POLICY REVIEW**

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Disaster management is governed by national and international legislation and policies that are designed specifically to manage the increasing number and intensity of catastrophes and their humanitarian impacts. They serve as a foundation for reducing present hazards therefore, minimising the chances of a disaster, preventing new disaster risks and ensuring the safety of communities (International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent (IFRC & RC), 2018). Some of the legislations and policies are binding while others are non-binding, but they are all important for reducing disaster risks and building resilience.

Binding policies or legislations are the main regulatory frameworks to ensure protection of the rights of the people impacted by catastrophic events. All stakeholders (Governmental Organisations, Non-Governmental Organisations, Private sectors and Community Organisations) involved in humanitarian work should respect, protect and guarantee these rights. Non-binding policies or legislations are recommendations, declarations or guiding principles to ensure that affected communities are protected during disasters. Though they are not mandatory, they are legal instruments and widely accepted. Moreover, they have the moral duty to address humanitarian action.

Disaster managers must not deviate from these instruments if they are to achieve efficient and effective disaster response. Policies provide guidelines on the management of catastrophic events and they play an important role in dissemination of relief aids. When adhered to, they can limit unnecessary delays in the dissemination of humanitarian assistance (IFRC, 2017). The policy instrument serves as a guiding instrument for humanitarian action and is essential to ensuring that the most affected communities and vulnerable groups receive assistance. Policies dealing with calamities are founded on comprehensive disaster risk management (Corsel, Ray-Bennett & Hebden, 2017). According to the World Bank Group (2019), following a disaster event there should be policies to ensure the following aspects:

- Accountability: There should be internal and external controls to guide adherence to set standards for public officials to take full responsibility for their actions.
- *Efficiency*: Service must be delivered in a proficient manner.
- *Flexibility*: There should be tractability in regulatory frameworks so that modes of operation are easily adaptable.
- *Gender sensitivity*: Attention must be given to the different issues that affect men and women during disasters.
- *Reliability*: All processes should be reliable even though circumstances are not as conducive as desired.
- Resilience: This entails the judicious use of resources in the restoration of the socio-economic status of the community so that they can withstand any future adversities.
- *Responsiveness*: The strategic reaction by disaster management teams to ensure a rapid delivery of service to the affected.
- *Transparency*: This involves earning trust from the public through honest dealings during the mitigation phase.

Policies and processes put in place for disaster management should encompass the above notions so that there is proper use of both financial and material resources. According to IFRC (2006), when laws, rules or policies are present and implemented effectively, humanitarian aid operations flow more quickly and saves more lives.

The purpose of humanitarian assistance is to alleviate the suffering of affected communities, protect lives, livelihoods and environments bearing in mind the special needs of vulnerable groups such as women and girls. Humanitarian assistance must not create or aggravate inequality and discrimination, conflicts among the affected community and environmental degradation. The researcher believes disaster managers can benefit the most from a holistic approach where disaster risk is fully covered. With this in mind, this chapter explores two major global instruments that can help to understand disaster risks. The instruments are the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction (2015-2030) (SFDRR) and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Lastly, the chapter discusses the South African Disaster Management Act No. 57 of 2002 (as amended by Disaster Management Amendment

Act, No. 16 of 2015). These policies and legislations are discussed according to the context of humanitarian response challenges.

#### 3.2 The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction

The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction (2015-2030), is a legal instrument adopted in March 2015 during the 3<sup>rd</sup> World Conference on Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR) to reduce the vulnerability of communities to catastrophic events. The instrument is non-binding and is the first major agreement of the post-2015 development agenda succeeding the Hyogo Framework for Action 2005 – 2015: *Building the Resilience of Nations and Communities to Disasters,* it was organised according to seven targets and four priority areas (United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UNISDR, 2015). The Sendai Framework recognises that governments have the primary role of managing disasters and reducing disaster risks and that the duties must be shared with other stakeholders such as local governments, the private sector, non-governmental organisations and other stakeholders involved in disaster management.

The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction aims to achieve, within 15 years, a reduction of disaster risks and disaster mortalities, protect livelihoods, economies and environments (physical, social and cultural) by preventing new risks and reducing existing ones. The framework aims to achieve these through implementing integrated and inclusive measures that strengthen resilience (UNISDR, 2015). To help achieve these objectives, the Sendai Framework recommends four priorities for action to align or facilitate and encourage better participation in Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR). The following are the four priorities for action as presented by UNISDR (2015):

• Priority 1: Understanding disaster risk

This priority articulates the need for improved understanding of disaster risk and recognises that disaster risk is a combination of a hazard, condition of vulnerability and a lack of capacity to minimise the potential impacts. Given this understanding, disaster risks should not be taken as isolated events but as a series of interconnected vulnerabilities (Wisner, 2004). Factors such as poverty, lack of education and population growth play a role in disaster risk. It is important to address underlying risk factors cost-effectively than just to rely on disaster response.

Therefore, humanitarian assistance should be tailored to each factor through cooperation and shared mechanisms and practices. Humanitarian action that addresses these factors is bound to reduce disaster mortalities and the effects of disasters such as disruptions of school days for school-going children.

#### • Priority 2: Strengthening disaster risk governance to manage disaster risk

This priority recognises that all spheres of government are responsible for preventing, mitigating, preparing and responding, to man-made and natural calamities within their jurisdictions. Responsibility should be shared with other stakeholders involved in disaster management. At times, societies cannot overcome the impacts of disasters without outside help or support resources (Mijalković and Cvetković, 2013). Disaster managers in collaboration with other stakeholders can help or support the affected community to overcome the effects of disasters. Sometimes a multi-humanitarian approach (local, regional and national) might be necessary to ensure that the affected population prevails against such a calamitous event. In other cases, international assistance can be requested when it is deemed necessary and appropriate for that event. According to Niekerk, Wentink, and Shoroma (2018), lack of intergovernmental relations and community participation or trust in governmental organisations leads to failure in disaster response. Failure to institute collective strategies results in the loss of property and human life (Noran, 2014). An effective coordinated multi-sectoral approach will ensure minimal damages and assist the community to recover from the impacts of the disaster. This calls for disaster managers to mainstream and integrate disaster risk reduction within their borders to avoid failure during humanitarian operations.

#### • Priority 3: Investing in disaster risk reduction for resilience

This priority recognises public and private investment as essential elements for enhancing the economy, social, health and cultural resilience of communities and their assets. Private sector companies such as mines are increasingly involved in humanitarian response in areas of their operations, sometimes as part of their commitment to a corporate social responsibility strategy. A humanitarian response plan that invests in the community can enhance the capacity of individuals and communities, it can save lives, reduce suffering and maintain the dignity of people during disasters (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), 2012). This calls for disaster managers to implement a strategic humanitarian response plan that will improve the quality of life of local communities. When the locals are adversely affected by disasters, the regional and national economies will also be affected (Surianto et al, 2019).

• Priority 4: Enhancing disaster preparedness for effective response and to "build back better" in recovery, rehabilitation and reconstruction

This priority recognises the importance of taking action in anticipation of the event and ensuring that capacities are in place for effective response and recovery. When disaster response and preparedness are strengthened, this results in effective humanitarian relief operations. This calls for disaster managers to engage civil society and community organisations regarding their roles and responsibilities. It helps to avoid misinterpretation of roles and responsibilities during relief operations. Understanding of the relevant legislation and policy assists communities to accept their responsibilities and recognise that they can strengthen their resilience. However, this does not mean disaster managers should shift responsibilities, it is an 'opportunity to rebuild better' or achieve sustainable development (Surianto et al., 2019).

Therefore, underlying factors such as poverty, lack of education and population growth, which pushes people into settling in dense and risk areas, should be addressed. Failure to address this will lead to more people competing for humanitarian aid during disastrous events than the ones initially planned. Competition for limited resources can lead to conflicts between disaster managers and the community. Again, it might be difficult for disaster managers to be partial or to decide who receives assistance or who does not and that can lead to violence. Failure to strengthen disaster risk governance can exacerbate the situation. If informal settlements are not monitored, unsafe structures (shacks) in high risk areas will mushroom. Mushrooming shacks is the cause of the initial planned aid being overstretched due to the increased number of people or properties in that area.

Investing in disaster risk reduction improves the accountability of communities. When people know their susceptibility to a certain hazard, they will try to reduce the danger or put appropriate measures to strengthen their resilience. Risk acceptance by the society means that people will be responsible enough not to build structures on highrisk areas. Reduced risk equals reduced number of affected people, which decreases the chance of conflicts between community and relief workers.

Humanitarian response is always under close public scrutiny. Therefore, disaster managers have to take cognisance of international and national regulations to deliver a timely and effective humanitarian relief and act in a more professional manner (de Gutty, Gestri & Venturini, 2020). For disaster managers to come up with 'antidotes' for the challenges they encounter during the humanitarian operations all key factors listed above must be considered and implemented. These will facilitate effective delivery of services to the victims of a disaster.

The link between disaster risk reduction and sustainable development is examined below.

#### 3.3 Sustainable Development Goals

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development Goals is a transformative plan of action for all countries and all stakeholders to implement and it is organised along 17 sustainable development goals and 169 global targets to advance sustainable development (UNIDSR, 2015).

The study looks into some goals that can relate or contribute to reducing disaster risks and strengthen the resilience of communities. The researcher believes that reducing disaster risks is a step towards solving the challenges that disaster managers encounter during humanitarian response operations. UNISDR (2015) states an important issue regarding the relationship between disaster risk reduction and sustainable development. The progress in the implementation of disaster risk reduction acts as a measure of the success of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development Goals (UNISDR, 2015). It means that there cannot be talks of sustainable development without disaster risk reduction programmes or vice versa. According to UNISDR & UNOCHA (2008), disaster risk reduction is an essential part of a state's investment in sustainable development. The following sustainable development goals as presented by UNISDR (2015) are key in saving lives, reducing suffering and maintaining the dignity of people before, during and after a disaster.

#### • Goal 1: End poverty in all its forms everywhere

Poverty is a key driver to disaster risk as it contributes to the dense and growth in informal settlements in high-risk areas and it limits the progress of sustainable development. As mentioned early on in the study that during a disaster, the disaster managers battle to access victims due to narrow streets or impassable streets from such areas. Therefore, if the eradication of extreme poverty is not prioritised, that means more and more people will remain vulnerable to disasters. Poor people are not only at high risk to disasters, but they also have fewer materials or resources to reduce or prevent, cope with and adapt to disasters. Strengthening the resilience of poor communities will ensure that there are no future disaster risks and should the disaster event take place, they will be able to recover from it.

Goal 2: End hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture

Man-made and natural catastrophes can destroy agricultural assets and infrastructures. Destruction of these assets can halt projects aimed at improving the living conditions of communities and such can cause food insecurity and loss of livelihood. Many people in the CoE depend on agriculture for their livelihood. The protection of vulnerable natural resources that people depend on builds the resilience of the populace. Disaster managers must know that disaster is an external stress inducing phenomena where the affected community or society cannot deal with stress without outside help. Therefore, it is important to reduce disaster risks to eliminate the chances of disaster events.

• Goal 3: Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages

People's health and well-being are often affected by disasters. Health facilities are considered critical since their failure leads to a great deal of suffering for the affected communities. When clinics are destroyed by disasters, lives are in danger because people will not have access to health service which can result in interruption of preventative care (vaccinations and pre-natal). When people find themselves in an unusual situation, they redefine their behaviour. They behave in a way aligned to the situation, which is different from their norm. In such situations, people exhibit collective behaviour reflecting the disruptive state of affairs, which contributes to disaster risks.

• Goal 4: Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all

The current coronavirus (Covid–19) pandemic quickly comes to mind as it serves as an illustration of how a disaster can bring the educational sector to a standstill. Such interruptions result in long-term implications. Poor disaster response during such calamities has ripple effects (long-term implications) in the locality and the world beyond. Education is an important tool for reducing vulnerability and building resilience of communities to disaster risks. Through education, people acquire knowledge, become aware of local and global risks, and are able to build infrastructures and properties that are resistant to disasters. This inevitably calls for early warnings, training and awareness campaigns to ensure that communities are aware of local hazards so they can best protect their lives, properties and livelihood, contributing to disaster resilience.

#### • Goal 5: Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls

Gender inequalities play an enormous role in humanitarian settings, men and boys are less exposed to disaster risk compared to women and girls. Women and girls are the ones who care for children, the elderly and disabled people. When warnings are issued to evacuate the risk area, this group sometimes stays behind which explains why there is high mortality in these groups during disasters. Howe (2019) attest by stating that, during the 2004 Indian Ocean tsunami, 250 000 deaths were recorded and 70% of that were women.

Despite this, women can participate in effective disaster risk reduction. Naturally, women and girls are capable of caring for other people, which can be used as an advantage in reducing disaster risks and building community resilience.

• Goal 6: Ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all

The CoE is prone to disasters such as flooding and droughts. Sustainable water management plays a part in addressing vulnerability and strengthening the resilience of communities to such disasters. Densification and growth in informal settlements in flood-prone areas and increased agricultural development on marginal lands increases exposure and vulnerability. Sustainable water management contributes to reducing exposure and vulnerability including the impacts of such disasters through clearing waterways of debris and building new dams to contain water.

• Goal 9: Ensure resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialisation and foster innovation

The disaster management subject identifies Critical Infrastructure (CI) as an important element in disaster risk reduction. The UNISDR (2009) developed an elaborate definition of CI. It is defined as, *"the primary physical structures, technical facilities and systems which are socially, economically or operationally essential to the functioning of a society or community, both in routine circumstances and in extreme circumstances of an emergency"* (UNISDR, 2009). As mentioned earlier, the City boasts an excellent transport network such as airport and rail lines, and telecommunication and energy grid infrastructures. These facilities are considered critical since their failure can lead to a great deal of suffering to the City's populace. CIs are interdependent, failure of one leads to failure of the other. For example, when there is a power outage in an area, the telecommunications system is also affected.

The interdependence of CI vulnerability is expounded on by Pescaroli and Alexander (2016) using the notion of cascading disasters. We are living in a global village where CIs become more vulnerable to large-scale catastrophes, as they are interconnected. Examples of such CIs are transportation, communication or energy supply. The more CIs grow interdependent, the more cascading disruptions across sectoral boundaries (Pescaroli and Alexander, 2016). Furthermore, when a bridge is destroyed by a flash flood, humanitarian actors have difficulty accessing victims on the other side of the bridge and workshops or restaurants become disconnected from customers and suppliers for days.

• Goal 11: Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable

The CoE continues to struggle to keep up with the housing backlog and the reformation of informal settlements, which means that these informal settlements are and will remain at high risk to disasters. Speeding up the upgrading of informal settlements means unparalleled opportunity to reduce risk. The Sendai Framework mentioned this important issue regarding urbanisation, "*a rapid and poor planned* 

*urbanisation does not strengthen resilience or reduce disaster risks"* (UNISDR, 2015). Meaning that urbanisation should not be done at the expense of the population.

 Goal 15: Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, and halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loos

Desertification and degradation of the land increases disaster risks and losses. In most cases, degradation is caused by urbanisation, pollution and extractive industries, and unsustainable agriculture.

In closing, poor management and implementation of the above SGDs will hinder relief operations during disastrous events. When the resilience of poor people or communities and women and girls is not strengthened, problems occur when disaster managers respond to disasters in those communities. As shown in Chapter 1, humanitarian assistance is governed by the principle of humanity, neutrality and impartiality; sometimes it is difficult to adhere to these principles during disasters if poor communities or women's resilience is not strengthened. For example, sometimes only a street separates informal settlements and formal settlements. If a tornado tears through both areas blowing off roof tiles and the shacks, disaster managers must decide whom to help first. This causes tension or conflicts about which of the two settlements is most deserving of the assistance. Strengthening of these communities and groups is another way of reducing challenges that might arise during disastrous events.

Furthermore, lack of prior education or training on disaster risks and land-use policy development and implementation, and reformation of the informal settlements will also raise same challenges when disaster managers respond to disasters in such areas. Lack of disaster risks education, land-use policy, and reformation of settlements leads to inaccessible roads including misunderstanding between the humanitarian actors and the communities during disasters.

During such situations, disaster managers must engage other governmental departments and relevant stakeholders involved in disaster response to reduce the present disaster risks and strengthen the resilience of communities. If not, this will result in the previously mentioned challenges during disaster relief operations.

Implementation of international and national policies and legislations should ensure positive delivery of assistance during all difficult times. As far as disaster management is concerned, every country must have appropriate legislation and policy to combat present and future hazards that might put its populace in danger. Considering this, South Africa uses Disaster Management Act (DMA), 2002 (Act No. 57 of 2002) enacted on 15 January 2003 to reduce disaster risks, prepare for and mitigate the effects of such catastrophes in the country. The Act serves as the primary legislation to combat catastrophic events in South Africa.

#### 3.4 South African Disaster Management Act 57 of 2002

South Africa's legislation is an important aspect of disaster management in the country. It puts the responsibility of reducing disaster risks on the populace and managing the catastrophes on the government because the government has the resources and capacity to do so. The events triggered by a hazard are such that communities cannot overcome without outside help or support resources (Mijalković and Cvetković, 2013). Therefore, countries must identify their risks to disasters and establish appropriate measures to reduce current and future risks and mitigate the impacts on the most vulnerable communities.

The DMA was enacted to make disaster management activities coordinated, objectoriented and strengthened and to formulate rules to build up the infrastructure of effective disaster management to fight catastrophes (Republic of South Africa, 2005). The Act requests cooperation from all spheres of government including NGO's, private sectors and communities to participate in the mitigation, preparation, rapid and effective disaster response and post-disaster recovery in the country (Cheema, Mehmood & Imran, 2016). The government structures responsible for coordinating, planning, setting procedure guidelines and strategising to ensure a rapid and effective disaster response are:

- National Sphere: National Disaster Management Centre (NDMC);
- Provincial Sphere: Provincial Disaster Management Centres (PDMC); and
- Metropolitan/District Sphere: Municipal Disaster Management Centres (MDMC).

Each sphere is responsible for arranging, working strategies and reacting to disaster events, according to the mandate given to them. In South Africa, policy on disaster

management is anchored on the Disaster Management Act 57 of 2002. The National Disaster Management Framework (NDMF) of 2005 is the policy specified by the Act.

# **3.5 Overview of the South African National Disaster Management Framework of 2005**

The NDMF is guided by the Act on the matter of disaster risks including disaster relief issues. Chapter 5 of the Disaster management Act No. 57 of 2002 (as amended by the Disaster Management Amendment Act, No. 16 of 2015), speaks specifically to Municipalities to have their own policy and that they must prioritise disaster risk reduction and certain aspects of disaster response. The policy derived thereof focuses on:

- Disaster prevention and risk reduction;
- Amelioration of disaster severity;
- Emergency pro-activeness;
- Swift and efficient response; and
- Restoration and rehabilitation (Dyssel, 2018).

The national policy comprises of four (4) Key Performance Areas (KPAs) and three supportive enablers, which are informed by objectives, set out in the KPAs.

- KPA 1: Integrated institutional capacity for disaster risk management;
- KPA 2: Disaster risk assessment;
- KPA 3: Disaster risk reduction; and
- KPA 4: Response and recovery.

The supporting enablers are:

- Enabler 1: Information management and communication;
- Enabler 2: Education, training, public awareness and research; and
- Enabler 3: Funding arrangements for disaster risk management.

The research focuses on KPA 4: response and recovery, as it is relevant to the study. KPA 4 insists on clear practices that will ensure effective disaster response during disastrous events. It addresses key elements that ensure effective and appropriate disaster response in the case of a disastrous event. The following are the elements as set in KPA 4 and they are important in achieving precise and realistic humanitarian response operations:

- Dissemination of early warnings;
- Assessment and classification of a disaster, and declaration and review of a disaster;
- Integrated response and recovery;
- Relief measures, and
- Rehabilitation and reconstruction.

#### 3.5.1 Dissemination of early warnings

The municipal disaster management centre is responsible for identifying and monitoring prevailing hazards, prepare, and issue early warning to the affected community. Miscommunication between the centre and community regarding the danger that the community is facing will create tension when humanitarian actors respond to catastrophic events in those communities. Therefore, disaster managers must develop and implement communication channels and strategies to ensure that the affected communities receive the warnings as early as possible. People can either evacuate the area or develop coping mechanisms (Republic of South Africa, 2005).

Sufric, Dwirahmadi, Phung, and Rutherford (2019) view early warning systems as an essential component for life saving and reduction of environment and property damage that might result from a pending disaster. Early warning needs to be on time, reach the intended community and must be understandable to the affected community to minimise damages or save lives (Sufric et al., 2019).

The absence of early warning or inconsequential warning to the community at risk will destroy lives and livelihood. Furthermore, it will lead to an unsatisfied community during the disastrous event which can lead to conflicts or disaster managers being attacked and chased away during relief operations.

# 3.5.2 Assessment and classification of a disaster, declaration and review of a disaster

The municipal disaster management centre is responsible for establishing mechanisms for the assessment of impacts and needs caused by disasters in their jurisdictions. Establishing needed resource using uniform methodologies under the national guideline to ensure the provision of immediate, effective and appropriate response and relief measures to the affected population during disasters. The centre

must also establish operational guidelines for rapid assessment; to facilitate the classification of events as disasters regarding the extent of the magnitude and severity of damages and impacts; to prioritise immediate needs of the affected communities. Last, to implement appropriate relief measures, and to disseminate relevant information to other organisations involved in disaster response.

It is also responsible for strategic coordination and management of response to all non-security related disasters, which occur, or are potential threats together with the head of the centre. The head of the centre is also responsible for making recommendations to the appropriate organ of state or statutory function on whether a local state of disaster should be declared in terms of sections 23 of the Disaster Management Act, No 57 of 2002. That is if capabilities are exceeded, resources depleted and the municipal contingency fund threshold exceeded (Republic of South Africa, 2005).

If the head of the centre does not make recommendations to declare a local state of disaster to get external support, this may lead to more casualties and damages to properties during the disaster event and the event might affect or spread to other areas. When lives, livelihoods, infrastructures and properties are destroyed people start questioning the existence of a disaster management centre within their Metropolitan Municipality and might lead to the attack of disaster managers by the population they are tasked to service.

#### 3.5.3 Integrated response and recovery

It is the responsibility of the centre to assign primary responsibilities to relevant organs of state for contingency planning for specific known rapid- and slow-onset hazards. The centre must consider operational plans and guidelines of other stakeholders involved in disaster management that contribute to field operations when assigning responsibilities for response and recovery. The aim is to identify gaps and thereafter provide training to achieve effective response in the event of a disaster. Operational plans and guidelines must be reviewed and updated annually or after the occurrence of a major disaster. Primary and secondary responsibilities must be assigned for each operational activity associated with disaster response – evacuation, temporary shelter, and emergency medical assistance (Republic of South Africa, 2005).

Lack of unity between disaster managers and other stakeholders involved in disaster management including community forums may lead to ineffective disaster response, which might result in mass loss. People have different perceptions regarding disaster management and its functions. If things do not go according to the community's way during relief operation, people might think relief operation is pointless and attack disaster managers.

#### 3.5.4 Relief measures

Disaster relief operations must be coordinated. It is the responsibility of the centre to coordinate relief operations so that relief assistance and donations are equitably distributed among victims of disaster. The centre must develop regulations consistent with national regulations to regulate the practice and management of relief operations. The regulations must address donations appeals, relief standards (to keep up with international standards), period of relief operation, when to ask for outside assistance (i.e. provincial assistance), and when to assist other municipalities (Republic of South Africa, 2005).

Uncoordinated relief operation will not achieve its objective - life preservation and basic subsistence needs of the most affected population. Instead, it will lead to wastage of resources and tension among various humanitarian actors including delayed assistance.

#### 3.5.5 Rehabilitation and reconstruction

The municipal disaster management centre is responsible for establishing task teams after a disaster occurs for rehabilitation and reconstruction. The programme or project must have a developmental or build back better focus (Republic of South Africa, 2005). Failure to restore or reconstruct will leave people unhappy and that will cause problems for disaster managers during the second episode of the disaster.

## 3.6 Analysis of the Disaster Management Act and the National Disaster Management Framework regarding humanitarian response challenges

One of the weakest aspects of the Disaster Management Act and National Disaster Management Framework is the lack of clear guidance to local municipalities on how to deal with humanitarian response challenges (van Niekerk, 2014). The researcher found that, the two documents provide clear guidance on how the municipalities can ensure an effective and appropriate disaster response in their jurisdictions. Yet, the fact that disaster managers might run into stumbling blocks during the response period is ignored.

It is surprising how the documents ignore such an important issue given the importance of response and relief operations as these operations save lives, minimise damage, and assist people to strengthen their resilience after the event. The response and relief operations should not just be the provision of resources but exclusive. The National Disaster Management Framework gives guidance action on how to reduce vulnerabilities and disaster risks. It provides activities or strategies that can reduce the vulnerability of people such as prevention and preparedness planning prior to the disaster. Activities include early warning, education, and training of those most affected by the pending hazard. These activities are important in ensuring effective disaster response in case the hazard becomes a disaster. Yet disaster managers still encounter problems even after clear execution of these activities.

Furthermore, the policy and legislation does not pay enough attention to factors that are associated with vulnerability such as poverty, dense settlements and population growth when addressing disaster risk reduction. These underlying factors remain problematic during relief operation if not attended to before the disaster event.

#### 3.7 Conclusion

To eliminate the hurdles encountered during humanitarian response operations disaster managers must adhere to the clear practice of KPA 4 on response and recovery. Efficient and effective humanitarian response operation requires constant development and update of disaster response strategy and this chapter showed how it can be achieved. The chapter provided realistic and measurable guidelines on how disaster risks can be reduced to strengthen the resilience of a community. The execution of the above can minimise the chances of disaster managers running into hurdles during disaster relief operations. Approved international and national policy frameworks were also discussed to see how they could facilitate disaster risk reduction in communities to avoid disasters or minimise the effects of the disaster.

### **CHAPTER 4: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 4.1 Introduction

Globally disasters cause large-scale damages, displacements and losses of properties and lives, which affect the livelihood of communities negatively. The government, together with non-governmental organisations and the private sector respond to such calamitous events to lessen the effects on the affected populace. However, when these organisations render humanitarian services, they encounter difficulties. Researchers have conducted studies on the challenges encountered during this critical phase of disaster management. Therefore, the aim of this section of the study is to review some challenges encountered during the humanitarian relief operations relevant to this study. Bharosa, Lee and Janssen (2009) highlight that, *"the identified past challenges continue to be relevant today"*. The researcher also believes that looking into those challenges will help guide and shape the directions of the study.

This chapter discusses the scholarly findings on challenges that humanitarian agencies encounter when responding to disasters globally. The chapter also discusses the root causes of humanitarian response challenges and strategies that humanitarian agencies use when responding to various disasters.

#### 4.2 Challenges encountered during humanitarian response

According to Gelsdorf (2010), food crisis, financial crisis, extreme poverty, water scarcity, migration and population growth are the current challenges faced by humanitarian actors worldwide in the face of these calamitous events. These factors impede disaster managers from achieving an effective and coherent disaster response.

For example, if a decision to evacuate those severely affected by the disaster event to a temporarily shelter is made, other community members who are living in poor conditions in the area demand same benefits even if they are not negatively affected by the event. They also want the food parcels and blankets. If these people do not benefit in any form, they would attack disaster manager's carrying the relief goods or fight the recipients of the assistance. According to Kurtzer (2020), globally, over 660 humanitarian workers were attacked between the years 2014 and 2017, and 90% of those attacked were local relief workers. These attacks jeopardise the chances of aid reaching the most affected and vulnerable people or for the victims to reach humanitarian workers.

Kurtzer (2020), found that access denial, delay (checkpoints) and diversion (taking other routes to avoid insecure areas) of humanitarian assistance are obstacles faced by disaster relief workers during disasters. This causes victims of disaster not to receive help quickly. The United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) (2017) views access denial as the largest challenge that humanitarian workers face during catastrophic events because humanitarian workers waste precious time negotiating access than doing their job.

According to Shipley (2019), the major challenge faced by humanitarian actors during relief operations is corruption. As far as humanitarian assistance is concerned, corruption involves more than cash bribes and other financial forms. According to Shipley (2019), corruption comes in different forms such as fraudulent diversion or theft of resources whereby relief workers use aid materials for their benefit or give them to people close to them. In addition, relief officials sometimes extort things from the affected population or exploit them sexually, especially women and girls seeking access to aid (Shipley, 2019).

Archer (2017) noted that during disasters, disaster managers are confronted with the challenge of a suddenly increased population. Sudden population influx puts more pressure on already-limited relief resources and that causes tensions between humanitarian workers and the community during humanitarian relief operations (Archer, 2017).

#### 4.3 Root causes of humanitarian response challenges

According to Holloway et al., (2013), disaster events are no longer treated as isolated incidents without considering their root causes. To address the challenges efficiently, underlying causes and their inter-connectedness need to be identified and addressed. Al-Dahasha & Kuatunga (2018) in their study found that lack of modern technology and equipment, multiple sources for the decision at the scene, lack of public education and failure in imposing a proper security cordon, complicates relief work during disaster response.

Modern technology or equipment has changed the way people share or collect information and can enable disaster managers to deliver life-saving information. The technology can help to collect essential information and making a decision on an action plan during disaster events. According to Sakurai and Murayama (2019), social media such as Instagram and WhatsApp can provide humanitarian workers with crucial information such as geographical locations that can enhance situation awareness during the relief operation.

The lack of public education can also cause problems between the humanitarian actors and the populace they intend to service. The support of local communities including their close participation during a disaster response phase is important in achieving an effective operation. If a local community has a different perception of how the relief operation should be conducted or what the needs of the affected people are, things can go wrong during the relief operation. In extreme cases, people might obstruct access routes to prevent disaster managers from entering the area. According to UNOCHA (2018), the first philanthropic player on the spot after a disaster occurs in a community is the community members. Thus, the world outside the affected community or country comes in to provide a supportive role. This means the external supporters (disaster managers) must operate within the local community's system. If there is no prior public education regarding disaster management including its functions, conflict of interest is bound to arise between the external supporters and the community.

An unstable security situation during disaster response compromises the safety of disaster managers and of those severely affected by a disaster, especially when the community and the external supporters differ in opinions regarding the provision of assistance. According to the UNICEF (2017), humanitarian workers find themselves investing more in security functions instead of relief functions. Prior relevant public training and warning for vulnerable communities coupled with the dissemination of warnings will ensure that people take ownership of the disaster risks. Ownership is the best defence because people will put measures to manage the hazard. As a result, people appreciate the collective effort and it will be easy for them to appreciate the assistance during times of need. They will understand that sometimes disaster impact demands capacity beyond the community's capabilities to rescue itself and so would need external assistance at some point. According to Kurtzer

(2020), violence against humanitarian workers and lack of security ruins the chances of relief workers accessing the most affected population. Therefore, proper security during the humanitarian response operation will also help to ensure that the most affected population gets the much-needed help on time.

Lack of financial resources, the endowment of equipment and tools are said to be a nightmare for disaster managers during disaster response (AL-Dahash, Thayaparan, and Kulatunga, 2016). Humanitarian workers are faced with the challenge of raising funds for humanitarian situations and it affects those mostly affected by disasters because of the huge gap between demand and supply. This sometimes leads to resources "*not moving towards greater flexibility but towards greater conditionality*" (UNICEF, 2017). Kurtzer (2020) further argues that, sometimes, governments exploit humanitarian response by reducing administrative allowances or by excessive taxes and fees. Davis (2002) highlights that humanitarian actors are forced to use the little they have to avoid their responsibilities being manipulated by political donors. Lack of financial resources denies the survivors of disasters the chance of rebuilding their lives.

Modern equipment and tools are essential in achieving the objectives of disaster response. Failure of this equipment and tools during the relief operation means that disaster managers and people must wait hours for the arrival of support resources (AL-Dahash, Thayaparan & Kulatunga, 2016). Late arrival of the supporting resources or depleted aid materials during the relief operation might result in an unhappy community that might lead to the attack on disaster managers by people whom they are intending to help. Furthermore, inadequate human resources to work in emergencies also affect humanitarian actors given the significant increase of humanitarian emergencies (UNICEF, 2017). A poor strategy to deal with the said factors or lack of it can worsen the situation while a good strategy can help disaster managers to implement the response plan (Neilson, Martin & Powers, 2008).

According to the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) and Nanyang Technological University (2015), the lack of coordination among the various disaster response actors is another challenge faced by disaster managers. Lack of coordination leads to unnecessary duplication of efforts, wastage of resources, tension among various disaster response workers and delays in aid reaching the

most affected and vulnerable people (ICRC and Nanyang Technological University, 2015). Humanitarian aid coordination according to UNOCHA (2016) refers to various humanitarian actors working together under one umbrella to organise and provide relief operations to meet basic needs of those affected by a catastrophic event. Precise and realistic humanitarian assistance requires cooperation of all involved stakeholders including the community (Wankmuller and Reiner, 2020). Noran (2014) states several barriers for effective collaboration in disaster management.

- Different views of the roles of the participants leading to operational incompatibility.
- Mistrust among the intended participant members that may arise because of various reasons.
- Difficulties in coming up with functional collaborative teams due to disagreements precipitated by unclear rules.
- Focusing on a narrow and exclusive set of collaborative aspects that may leave out other important issues.
- Bureaucracy leading to slow decision making that culminates in information and cooperation impediment.
- Overriding of decisions among and within teams rather than engaging each other cooperatively.
- Inability to join and operate in a task upon being summoned on an impromptu basis.
- Difficulty in identifying suitable candidates to constitute teams that are versatile.

The above-listed hindrances to collaborative disaster response call for disaster managers to have strategies in place to overcome the said barriers during the relief operation. This places the responsibility of setting up strategies on disaster managers to ensure that the relief operation is efficiently done in their jurisdictions. Altay and Labonte (2014) suggest the following strategies for disaster managers to avoid misinterpretation and excessive information:

 When information is inadequate, disaster managers should rely on assumptions of data or accelerate information processing if there is an overload of information. • Separate and clarify roles and expectations because the lack of clear roles has implications for how humanitarian assistance functions.

The cooperation of stakeholders saves effort and resources and it substantially reduces response time because it reduces tension between relief workers and the community (UNOCHA, 2016). Tipper cited by Humanitarian Logistics Association (HLA) (2017) views efficient disaster response as both a science and art. Science refers to disaster managers knowing their rights and responsibilities as per disaster legislation and policy, including the proper use of tools such as rapid assessment. While the art is the implementation of the science as the event unfolds. For a relief operation to be effective, it is important that all participating stakeholders including the community meaningfully participate in the science and art during the disaster response phase.

## 4.4 Strategies that humanitarian agencies employ when responding to various disasters

Disaster response strategy or activity that encompasses the above factors including other underlying factors to vulnerability is developed based on a sound assessment of risks and can help disaster managers to avoid obstacles and secondary events during the disaster (United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UNISDR) & United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA), 2008).

Looking at problems that could hinder effective humanitarian response during catastrophic events, Noran (2014) suggests solutions inspired by collaborative networks, interoperability and enterprise architecture research disciplines.

- Roles of participants should be clearly laid out and agreed upon.
- Building of confidence and trust among teams well in advance.
- Use of participatory and inclusive approaches by the lead team.
- Adopting a holistic approach, which brings in all the relevant issues.
- Elimination of bureaucracy and creation of information and process interoperability.
- Participants prepared well in advance to engage in the various disaster response task forces.

- Teams to work cooperatively following agreed and laid out modes of operation.
- Taskforce members to be prepared in advance so they are readily available when the need arises.

The implementation of the above proffered solutions should see effective humanitarian operation during catastrophic events.

Tipper (2016) highlights the challenges of choosing how to respond to difficult humanitarian situations and outlines two different frameworks for action: Classical and Naturalistic. A classical decision occurs at the non-operational level. It outlines the potential outcomes of the options available and compares outcomes to determine which is best (Tipper, 2016). Risks are weighed during the catastrophic event to determine which part of the affected area disaster managers should concentrate their assistance. This is done to avoid relief workers becoming confused and ending up double compensating or depleting the resources without meeting the disaster response objective especially during a large-scale disaster. Moreover, the classical decision is more of a reassurance for disaster managers that they are fulfilling their responsibility to assist those most affected by the disaster and vulnerable groups (Tipper, 2016).

A naturalistic decision is viewed as the selection of the first option from a classic decision. The first one that comes to mind must be evaluated quickly to see if it will yield positive results. Decisions are evaluated to select or find the most appropriate option (Tipper, 2016). Studies done by Noran (2014) and Tipper (2016) have answered part of the problems encountered by the CoE disaster managers during disaster relief operations in their jurisdiction.

#### 4.5 Conclusion

Chapter 2 of this study gave details of how a decision is evaluated following an event to generate credible evidence sufficient to guarantee implementation. For a humanitarian response to be effective, it must be principled, informed, coordinated, appropriate and accountable. This chapter gave details of how a balanced humanitarian relief operation can be achieved by addressing the underlying causes of the challenges encountered during relief operations and employing strategies to deal with them. Furthermore, precise and realistic humanitarian assistance can be achieved by implementing 'antidotes' of the challenges encountered during the operation. For these reasons, it is necessary to find solutions to the challenges that disaster managers face while helping those affected or vulnerable to disasters. Chapter 5 of this study provides the methodology to be used in finding the remedies for the challenges that the CoE disaster managers face when assisting victims.

### CHAPTER FIVE: RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

#### **5.1 Introduction**

A qualitative research approach was used to examine the response challenges encountered and the strategies employed to resolve them by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers when providing humanitarian assistance during disasters within their jurisdiction. According to Reeves, Peller, Goldman, & Kitto (2013) a qualitative research studies people (communities, organisations and teams) in their own environment to get the stories of their lived experiences. A qualitative approach will ensure that the target population (CoE disaster managers) are given a platform to express their opinions and lived experiences regarding the subject matter, while the objective of the study is obtained. Therefore, this chapter outlines a detailed plan and the methodology used including instruments, data collection and analysis methods used to obtain the information and achieve the objectives of the study.

The following research question and sub-questions were to be answered:

#### Research question

Could a humanitarian response plan effectively be used as a tool for addressing disaster response challenges faced by disaster managers in the City of Ekurhuleni?

#### Research sub-questions

- i.) What response challenges do City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers' encounter when responding to disaster incidents?
- ii.) Does the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management center have a humanitarian response plan to address the challenges?
- iii.) Does the South African disaster management legislation and policy prescribe guidelines on addressing humanitarian response challenges?
- iv.) What are the recommendations for addressing the challenges encountered by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers' when responding to disaster incidents?
- By answering the above questions, the study would achieve the following objectives:
  - i.) To examine the response challenges encountered by CoE disaster managers when responding to catastrophes;

- ii.) To evaluate the humanitarian response plan used to address the challenges faced by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management centre
- iii.) To evaluate South African disaster management legislation and policy regarding humanitarian response challenges; and
- iv.) To suggest recommendations for addressing the challenges encountered by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers' based on the research findings.

#### 5.2 Research design

A research design is the set of methods and techniques used for collecting, analysing, interpreting and reporting data in accordance with the study objectivity (Boru, 2018). It is the conceptual blueprint of a research study (Akhtar, 2016). In short, it is the action plan for addressing the research problem. According to Jilcha (2019), a research design determines how data is obtained for a study. It plays a key role in detailing the techniques for gathering data including the methods to be used in obtaining the information, the tool(s) to be used and the administration of the tool(s), and "how all of this is going to answer the research question" (Boru, 2018).

The goal was not to generalise but to investigate the challenges encountered and the strategies used by disaster managers while providing help to the communities. To ensure that the study attains its goal and objectivity, in-depth semi-structured interviews were used to explore opinions and experiences lived by individuals. According to Bolderston (2012), ethnography, grounded theory and phenomenology are common approaches in qualitative research. However, due to the given number of disaster managers in the CoE the latter (*phenomenology*) is preferable. *Phenomenology* – is rooted in investigating the experiences of people (communities, organisations and teams) to understand their lived experiences (Bolderston, 2012). While Neubauer, Witkop & Varpio (2019) describes phenomenology as the study of an event or phenomenon through the perspective of those who are in the situation. In short, phenomenology is based on a participant's subjective experiences and the way they perceive and interpret them. Based on this strategy, any experience outside the targeted population experiences was ignored because they were not of value or useful in coming up with solutions or recommendations.

#### 5.3 Research methodology

Merriam-Webster (2020), describe research methodology as 'a set of methods, rules, or ideas' employed by a study. While Kothari (2004) refers to research methodology as a systematic way of solving the research questions. "*It encompasses concepts such as paradigm, theoretical model, phases and qualitative or quantitative procedures*" (Igwenagu, 2016). The researcher's choice to undertake a qualitative approach will ensure that rich and detailed data from the perspective of participants regarding the topic is produced (Bush, 2016; Cader, 2016; Larry, 2014). However, this also depends on the form of methods used to collect the information. Many methods are used in qualitative research to collect data. According to Reeves, Peller, Goldman & Kitto (2013) to transcribe the culture, perspectives, and practices of individuals or groups of individuals, most often, a face-to-face interview method is used in this approach. Hammarberg, Kirkman & de Lacey (2016) wrote that, the face-to-face interview method ensures that the researcher obtains in-depth information regarding the topic at hand.

#### 5.4 Data collection tools

Kabir (2016) describes data collection tools as a means of collecting detailed answers and measuring data from variables of interest to solve the problem. In short, data collection tools are means to collect primary research findings. According to Yin (2014), questionnaires and interviews are the most common means of collecting data in the field of research. As highlighted above, the study will utilise a face-to-face interview process to attain its objectivity. A face-to-face interview or one on one interview is a data collection method, which directly involves the participant and the interviewer. The researcher travels to participants and physically asks the survey questions or it can be done over the telephone (Marshall, 2016). A telephone interview produces the same result as face-to-face. According to Bolderston (2012), remote interviews such as telephone and internet or e-mail's are reliable and efficient forms of data collection. A face-to-face interview using a technology device such as a smart phone and tablet or personal computer allows the respondent the chance to be interviewed in his or her own comfortable, familiar space, and to feel free to express their opinions. Strict Covid-19 preventative measures such as wearing of a face mask; physical distancing and sanitising of hands were adhered to while conducting the interviews. In some instance Zoom technology was used to access

practitioners working from home. Zoom accorded the researcher the same intensive interview as in-person.

The researcher porbed for explanations of responses and clarified questions that respondents found confusing or ambiguous to get more information, annexures (interview guide) is below for reference. The interview was structured in five categories. Section A asked the respondents demographic characteristics while section B – E required the respondents to give detailed information. Sundler, Lindberg, Nilsson & Palmer (2019) links probe questioning to a reflective attitude. Nurfaidah (2018) defines reflective attitude as, "being open-minded, wholehearted and responsible". Therefore, probe questioning gave participants a chance to reflect during the interview and admit if previous fact(s) are wrong (Nurfaidah, 2018).

#### 5.5 Data analysis

The one on one interview generated a large amount of information, which required the researcher to do a lot of reading to analyse such a large amount of data (Wong, 2008). Kawulich (2004) describes data analysis as the process of reducing a large amount of information collected by extracting useful information and making sense of it. According to Wong (2008), the researcher needed to identify significant patterns including the similarities or differences in collected data to extract useful information.

According to Braun & Clarke (2012), thematic analysis is a popular method used to extract useful information in qualitative research. Thematic analysis refers to identifying common patterns in collected data according to the way they relate to the topic at hand. O'Connor & Gibson (2003) summarised thematic analysis by stating that, it involves lots of reading and reviewing the collected data to code, group, and relate different ideas. Therefore, the researcher coded and grouped ideas that came up repeatedly in the data to analyse them.

To ensure that data was not compromised during analysis, the following interactive phases of thematic analysis by Mortensen (2020) were followed:

 Data familiarisation - the researcher started by going through the audio recordings and texts to familiarise himself with the collected data, identified common elements, and took notes (Labra, Castro, Wright & Chamblas, 2019).

- Generate initial data codes to describe the content according to Mortensen (2020) this phase involves the part where the researcher writes down a code each time he/she come across something interesting in the data. During this phase, the researcher grouped elements according to similarities or differences (Labra et al, 2019).
- Search for patterns after grouping the data, the researcher used words or phrases that aligned with the purpose of the study taken from the collected data. The researcher revisited the words and phrases and he was able to tell a story according to the respondents words and phrases (Mortensen, 2020).
- Presenting and discussing the result the researcher wrote the findings.

#### 5.6 Conclusion

The chapter outlined the research design and methodology followed in this study. Detailed information regarding the method used in collecting data was also covered including the strategic plan to scrutinise collected data to ensure it answered the research questions. Chapter six builds from this methodological proposition, it provides the results, discussion and interpretation of findings.

# CHAPTER 6: DATA ANALYSIS AND PRESENTATION OF RESULTS

#### **6.1 Introduction**

This chapter presents the results of the data obtained from the field concerning the research objectives. It discusses the demographic characteristics of respondents; the challenge experienced in the City of Ekurhuleni during humanitarian response and evaluates the root causes of humanitarian response challenges and the response strategies. The research project is underpinned by the following question and sub-questions:

Could a humanitarian response plan effectively be used as a tool for addressing disaster response challenges faced by disaster managers in the City of Ekurhuleni?

and

- i.) What response challenges does the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers' encounter when responding to incidents?
- ii.) Does the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management center have a humanitarian response plan to address the challenges?
- iii.) Does the South African disaster management legislation and policy prescribe guidelines on addressing humanitarian response challenges?
- iv.) What are the recommendations for addressing the challenges encountered by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers when responding to incidents?

#### 6.2 Demographic characteristics of respondents

Eight participants were selected for interviews using the phenomenological approach. The criteria ranged from lower ranking officials to senior disaster managers in the City of Ekurhuleni (CoE). Junior and senior disaster managers were believed to have acquired in-depth knowledge of the subject matter. The mean age of the participants was between 30 and 41 with 6 females and 2 males. The education status of disaster managers in the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management centre influences their ability to make decisions associated with humanitarian response (Davis, 2018). Participants agreed by stating that sometimes
they have to use discretion to overcome the challenges they face with during humanitarian response.

# 6.2.1 Education status of respondents

Concerning the results from the interviews, all disaster management managers in the City of Ekurhuleni had tertiary qualifications. The results from the respondents support the idea of Cohen (2015) who suggested that disaster managers should apply their knowledge, skills and experience in professional standards, laws and ethical principles to make informed decisions during humanitarian response. It is important for disaster managers to obtain relevant qualifications for them to be able to conduct rapid assessment, and use proper documented procedures to analyse the facts, circumstances and make decisions.

In the humanitarian response, people at risk need timely and effective communication. According to the UNHCR (2016) timely and effective communication depends on quality information, better coordination and better decision- making and thus improving the response to the beneficiaries.

# 6.3 Challenges encountered during humanitarian response

The respondents were asked to identify and list the challenges that they encounter when responding to disasters. They were required to list all the challenges that apply. As presented in figure 6.1 below, most of the respondents mentioned insufficient resources (eight), corruption (eight) and political interventions (seven), community unrest (six) and the lack of coordination among humanitarian agencies (four). Based on these responses, the major challenges were corruption and insufficient resources.



Figure 6.1: Challenges that are faced by disaster managers in the City of Ekurhuleni *Source: Field survey 2021* 

Many researchers confirmed in their studies, that disaster managers are facing more challenges during humanitarian responses (Archer, 2017; Gelsdorf, 2010; Kurtzer, 2020; and Shipley, 2019). Humanitarian response focus is to save lives and provide basic needs to the affected population usually on a short-term basis until sustainable solutions are found. However, on many occasions, the distribution of resources becomes a difficult task. In the context of the Disaster Management Cycle Framework, which was adopted for this study, Asghar, Alahakoon and Churilo (2006) suggested that, it could be used to identify redress for challenges encountered during humanitarian operations. It simplifies complex events when responding to catastrophes, it quantifies disaster events, it allows for active coordination and collaboration during relief and recovery efforts and it facilitates the planning process and the comprehensive completion of disaster management plans.

South Africa is currently experiencing multi-dimensionality of hazards, which calls for relief resources and humanitarian aid at the same time. For example, before COVID-19 occurred, the country experienced long dry seasons (drought) and at the beginning of the year 2021, the tropical cyclone ELOISE occurred. Humanitarian workers are faced with the challenge of distributing limited relief materials to meet the huge number of affected communities. Population expansion puts more pressure on already-limited relief resources that causes tensions between humanitarian workers and the affected communities.

The respondents' observations in terms of corruption are consistent with the finding of the study by Shipley (2019) who discovered that as far as humanitarian assistance is concerned, corruption comes in different forms such as theft of resources whereby relief workers use aid material for their benefit or distribute to people who do not qualify.

Political intervention was found to be a major concern during the process of distributing humanitarian response. The respondents suggested that political leaders within the communities have the tendency of manipulating or controlling the distribution of resources in favour of their friends or family. This view is supported by the findings of Bommer, Dreher and Alvarez (2019) study that revealed that during the cyclone Nargins at Myanmar that killed approximately 140 000 people, the humanitarian relief was systematically blocked and delayed for political reasons. In their research, they suggested that to facilitate rapid and efficient assistance that is independent of politics, such aid is supposed to follow the principle of impartiality that humanitarian action should be implemented based on need, without discrimination on the grounds of other factors such as sex, ethnic affiliation, religion or political views.

Poor coordination from the sector departments and the organisations responsible for disasters is considered a serious challenge for managing the humanitarian response. The respondents believed that assisting organisations are not sufficiently coordinated, cooperative at various levels from the management and strategic at operational levels. As a result, due to the lack of coordination, resources, staff and equipment are sent to the affected regions but without proper coordination. ICRC and Nanyang Technological University (2015) who sited lack of coordination results in unnecessary duplicates of efforts, misuse of resources and delay in distributing aid to affected and vulnerable people, support these findings. Poor incident management also results in lack of efficient and effective accountability.

The respondents' were also concerned about community unrest, which is caused by communities' high expectations during such events. According to a respondent, 'community members see disaster management officials as people who donate food parcels and blankets during catastrophic events'. After a disaster occurs, one of the responsibilities of disaster management officials is to conduct damage assessment

of the affected communities. People expect assistance within a short period. When their expectations are not met, they start to complain and sometimes protest. This condition threatens the lives and safety of humanitarian workers.

With the above information, on a scale of 1 to 5, 1 being the most problematic area, disaster managers were asked to select the areas that they mostly experience challenges in the City of Ekurhuleni during response operation. As presented in Table 6.1 below, Etwatwa was mentioned to be the most problematic area followed by Benoni, Thembisa and Daveyton.

City of Ekurhuleni problematic areas	SCALE		<b>→</b>					
	1- Most prob 5- Least prot	1- Most problematic 5- Least problematic						
	1	2	3	4	5			
Etwatwa	н							
Benoni		М						
Thembisa			L					
Daveyton			L					

Table 6.1: Areas within the City of Ekurhuleni in which disaster managers experience most challenges

Source: Field survey 2021

City of Ekurhuleni is one of the fastest-growing areas in South Africa (IDP, 2013). Many factories that produce goods and commodities are in Ekurhuleni where manufacturing accounts almost 20% of the gross domestic product of Gauteng. The municipality is home to OR Tambo international airport, the busiest airport in Africa. South African largest railway hub is in Ekurhuleni (Germiston) and links the population of all major centres and ports in the Southern African region. All this makes it a potential target for employment seekers from inside and outside the country. With a total surface area of 1928 kilometres, a population of 3.2 million and 896 117 households and approximately 1650 people per square kilometre makes the City of Ekurhuleni the most densely populated city in Gauteng province (City of Ekurhuleni Annual Report, 2010/11).

The City of Ekurhuleni has a huge informal settlement with shacks and backyard shacks which are situated on unsuitable and vulnerable land. Etwatwa, Benoni, Thembisa and Daveyton are some of the areas that are concentrated with informal settlements. Population growth, urban migration, economic vulnerability and multi-dimensionality of risks are all compounding challenges during disaster response.

### 6.4 Causes of humanitarian response challenges in The City of Ekurhuleni

To address the challenges efficiently, underlying causes should be identified. Disaster managers were asked to outline what they felt were the causes of challenges during humanitarian response based on their experience of the operations. Lack of public education and awareness, limited resources, poverty, political involvement were mentioned as some of the causes of challenges during humanitarian response.

Most of the participants claimed that the lack of public and organisational education is considered the most important barrier. Communities affected by a disaster are not familiar with the procedures that are used to identify people in need, delivering and distribution of humanitarian aids. Such lack of information may cause conflicts between humanitarian workers and the beneficiaries. Safarpour (2020) findings revealed that in many aspects of humanitarian response, people are not familiar with ways of helping and people who are interested in humanitarian aids are not informed of which kind of donation, to whom, in which time and how it should be delivered.

On several occasions, the resources provided are not sufficient to meet all the needs of the affected households. Concerns arise when disaster managers have to decide on who should get assistance first.

South Africa is largely characterised by extreme poverty and income inequalities, which continue to leave community and households in a devastating state of

vulnerability and need (Gelsdorf, 2010). In many areas of Ekurhuleni, the situation is worse with most of the shack dwellers having their shacks and property being destroyed during restructuring of informal settlements (IDP, 2020/21).

Political preference also cause challenge during the distribution of humanitarian aid. Some political leaders prefer aid to be donated to their supporters and make unrealistic promises to the affected communities as a way of increasing the support base. According to Bommer, Dreher and Alvarez (2019), politicians try to direct aid to reward those who support them so that others will do the same in future.

# 6.5 Response strategies in the City of Ekurhuleni

The Disaster Management Act, 2002 (Act No. 57 of 2002) as amended requires an integrated and coordinated policy that focuses on rapid and effective response to disasters and post-disaster recovery and rehabilitation. The National Disaster Management Framework of 2005 addresses key requirements that ensure planning for disaster response and recovery. When a significant event or disaster occurs or is threatening to happen, there must be no confusion as to the roles and responsibilities and the procedures to be followed (van Niekerk, 2014).

With this background, the respondents were asked if there is an existing disaster management plan or humanitarian response plan for the City of Ekurhuleni that deals with response operations. Five out of eight disaster managers agreed that the City of Ekurhuleni had a humanitarian response plan whereas three disaster managers were not familiar with that plan.

Five respondents were further asked about the content of the response plan of the City of Ekurhuleni whether it includes the activities that are listed in Table 6.2 below. Four respondents out of five confirmed that rapid assessments in the City of Ekurhuleni are done and the decisions of humanitarian response are based on procedures documented in the response plan. This result is consistent with the finding in section 6.2.1 that all disaster management managers at the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management centre have professional qualifications and can conduct rapid assessments, and use properly documented procedures to analyse facts, circumstances and make decisions.

	Yes	No	Maybe
Rapid assessment	4		1
Decision-based on professional judgement, e.g. what	4	1	
should happen if people refuse temporary shelters?			
Evaluate the decision, e.g. Is this decision in the best	4	1	
interest of the community?			
Command implementation, e.g. after deciding, is the	4		1
decision implemented.			
0			

Source: Field survey 2021

The respondents were asked further if the response plan includes the outline of the Key Performance Area (KPA) 4: Response and recovery as stated in the National Disaster Management Framework of 2005. The respondents confirmed that the response plan of the City of Ekurhuleni includes all the contents as per the KPA 4.

Table 6.3: Elements of KPA 4							
Does the response plan include the elements of KPA 4?	Number of r	respondent	S				
	Yes	No	Maybe				
Dissemination of early warnings.	5						
Assessment, classification, declaration and review of	5						
disaster.							
Integrated response and recovery.	5						
Relief measures.	5						
Rehabilitation and reconstruction.	4		1				

Source: Field survey 2021

According to the responses from respondents, early warnings have been designed to alert communities and individuals about an impending or imminent event or disaster so that they can take the necessary steps to avoid or reduce the impact of the risk and prepare for an effective response. South African Weather Service (SAWS) was mentioned as a government agency that disseminates warnings related to weather. People receive warnings through radio, television and social media.

The respondents agreed that assessment, classification, declaration and review of a disaster occurrence are done to ensure immediate and appropriate response and relief actions when significant events of disaster occur or are threatening to occur. However, clear guidelines for the measures that have to be taken need to be established. The response plan also includes all affected and interested stakeholders for integrated coordination. Disaster managers ensure that relief operations, relief assistance and donations are distributed equitably.

Lastly, the respondents were asked whether the South Africa's Disaster Management Act, No. 57 of 2002 (as amended by Disaster Management Amendment Act, No. 16 of 2015) as well as the National Disaster Management Framework of 2005 prescribe guidelines of addressing the humanitarian response challenges. Seven out of eight respondents indicated that the two policy documents only deal with recovery, and does not address the challenges incurred when responding. Their views are consistent with the analysis of van Niekerk (2014) which revealed that one of the weakest aspects of the Disaster Management Act and the National Disaster Management Framework is the lack of clear guidance to local municipalities on how to deal with humanitarian response challenges. The researcher found that, the two documents provide clear guidance on how the municipalities can ensure an effective and appropriate disaster response in their jurisdictions. Yet, the fact that disaster managers might run into stumbling blocks during the response period is highly ignored.

### 6.6 Chapter summary

This chapter presented the findings of the data obtained from the field concerning the research objectives. It discussed the demographic characteristics of the respondents; the challenge experienced in the City of Ekurhuleni during humanitarian response and evaluated the root causes of humanitarian response challenges and the response strategies.

# **CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

# 7.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the major findings of the study concerning the analysis performed in the previous chapter. The objective of the research was to investigate the challenges experienced by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers during a humanitarian response, as well as to assess the strategies they implement to resolve the challenges. To align the study's main findings, this chapter revisits the study objectives, which are:

- i.) To examine the response challenges encountered by City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers when responding to catastrophes;
- ii.) To evaluate the humanitarian response plan used to address the challenges faced by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management centre;
- iii.) To evaluate South African disaster management legislation and policy regarding humanitarian response challenges; and
- iv.) To suggest recommendations for addressing the challenges encountered by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster manager based on the research findings.

Face to face interviews were used as the research instrument to collect data. The interview was used to collect data on the demographic characteristics of respondents, discuss the challenges experienced in the City of Ekurhuleni during humanitarian response and evaluate the root causes of humanitarian response challenges and the response strategies. Information was sought on whether the Disaster Management Act, 2002 (Act No. 57 of 2002) as amended (Act No. 16 of 2015) as well as the National Disaster Management Framework of 2005 prescribed guidelines on addressing the humanitarian response challenges.

The study took into consideration the insights of eight disaster managers, ranging from junior to senior disaster managers in the City of Ekurhuleni. The selection of the practitioners was based on the phenomenological approach with the aim of providing the researcher with detailed answers to the research questions, related to their lived experiences.

Interviews were conducted in English and transcribed, analysed and presented. The findings supported the adopted Disaster Management Cycle Framework, which guided the study. The use of the Disaster Management Cycle Framework was justified because it can identify redress for challenges encountered during humanitarian operations; it simplifies complex events when responding to catastrophes. It quantifies disaster events, and allows for active coordination and collaboration during relief and recovery efforts. The framework also facilitates the planning process and the comprehensive completion of disaster management plans. Therefore, this chapter presents the study conclusions, which include the study main findings, followed by the recommendations for the study and recommendations for further studies.

# 7.2 Study conclusion

Based on the analysis of the evidence derived from the field investigations, below are the conclusions of the study:

- The study sought to examine the response challenges encountered by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers when responding to catastrophes.
   Based on the data analysed, it was concluded that the major challenges were insufficient resources, corruption, political interventions, community unrest and lack of coordination among humanitarian agencies.
- Lack of public education and awareness, limited resources, poverty, political involvement are identified as the main causes of challenges encountered during the humanitarian response efforts.
- The study also evaluated the humanitarian response plan used to address the challenges faced by the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management centre. It was concluded that the City of Ekurhuleni has a humanitarian response plan, which included rapid assessment, response and recovery procedures.
- The assessment of the Disaster Management Act, 57 of 2002 and the National Disaster Management Framework, 2005, led to the conclusion that these two documents do not address the challenges faced by disaster managers.

The major findings of the study are summarised in the next section.

### 7.2.1 Challenges encountered during humanitarian response

The findings revealed that disaster managers face many challenges during humanitarian responses, including insufficient resources, corruption, political interventions, community unrest and lack of coordination among humanitarian agencies. Shortage of resources such as personnel, equipment and materials to meet the enormous needs of affected communities is concerning and causes tension between humanitarian workers and the affected communities. The political leaders within the communities who try to redirect or manipulate the distribution of aid resources to benefit their supporters and people close to them were also a concern.

The respondents believed that the organisations engaged in disaster relief operations are not sufficiently coordinated and cooperative at various levels resulting in unnecessary duplication of efforts, misuse of resources and delay in distribution of aid to affected and vulnerable people. Community members see disaster management officials as people who donate food parcels and blankets during catastrophic events and when their expectations are not met, they complain, and threaten the lives and safety of humanitarian workers. The most problematic regions identified in the City of Ekurhuleni were Etwatwa, Benoni, Thembisa and Daveyton.

### 7.2.2 Causes of humanitarian response challenges in the City of Ekurhuleni

Lack of public education and awareness, limited resources, poverty, political involvement were mentioned as the most causes of challenges during humanitarian response. The interviewees confirmed communities are not familiar with the procedures that are used to identify needy people, the delivery and distribution of humanitarian aids after a disaster, which causes conflicts between humanitarian workers and the beneficiaries. On several occasions, the resources are overwhelmed by large-scale emergency incidents. Poverty was found to exacerbate the households' vulnerability and need.

## 7.2.3 Response strategies in the City of Ekurhuleni

The practitioners confirmed that the City of Ekurhuleni has the humanitarian response plan document, which includes response procedures and the rapid assessment requirement for decision-making. The response plan also includes the contents of the Key Performance Area 4 as stated in the National Disaster Management Framework, 2005. It was confirmed that assessment, classification,

declaration and review of a disaster occurrence is done to ensure immediate response and relief actions when disaster occurs or are threatening to occur. However, the City's response plan is not capable of dealing with the challenges encountered during a disaster relief operation phase. Practitioners have to use their own judgment when faced with challenges during such a critical time. As one practitioner noted, 'every region of the city has their way of overcoming the challenges they are faced with'. Questions about the City's humanitarian response plan are raised when disaster managers find themselves having to decide on who gets the assistance first because of insufficient resources. There is no clear guidance in the City's humanitarian response plan for the practitioners to use when they encounter challenges during a disaster relief phase.

The study revealed that the Disaster Management Act, 2002 (Act No. 57 of 2002) as amended (Act No. 16 of 2015) as well as the National Disaster Management Framework of 2005, provide high-level, strategic insight into the development of aspects such as disaster response, coordination, preparedness and risk reduction measures. However, these two documents do not address the challenges faced during humanitarian response. The Act and framework provide clear guidance to local municipalities to ensure an effective disaster response in their jurisdictions. However, this legislation and policy omitted the fact that during disaster response disaster practitioners will incur challenges along the process.

## 7.4 Recommendations

The humanitarian response constraints must be minimised and were possible, eliminated as they derail the response management system. The existence of the identified challenges means that those affected by the event not benefit from the response by receiving the much-needed assistance. To overcome constraints identified in the study and ensure that the City of Ekurhuleni disaster management centre achieves an efficient and effective humanitarian response that leads to a positive outcome when a disaster occurs, the following recommendations are made.

### 7.4.1 Development of a disaster preparedness plan

Investing in preparedness makes sense. Preparedness that is rooted in comprehensive risk and contextual analysis can minimise the potential of challenges during the disaster response. The centre should have adequate resources

especially, on relief items such as tarpaulins, canned food, blankets and first aid materials. Disaster relief organisations within the City should be encouraged to donate such items or fund them beforehand and store them in a warehouse to ensure that the centre meets the immediate needs of those in need on time. Better resource preparedness against risks is a central part of a comprehensive approach to disaster management, it means that when resources (relief items, funds, vehicles and warehouse) are in order, aid is delivered faster and efficiency increases.

# 7.4.2 Inclusion of specific hazard contingency arrangement in the humanitarian response plan

It is a good practice for humanitarian workers to ensure that planning for known risks is included in humanitarian response plans. Understanding the world of communities within the organisation parameters should lead to avoidance of community unrest. People are angry over service delivery, some communities live in abject poverty, lack of such knowledge and understanding will always affect the implementation of a proper response plan prepared for use during humanitarian response. The centre must include public awareness campaigns in community participation processes. Increasing general public knowledge regarding disasters will assist, as people will be able to separate politics and disaster relief efforts. The City must provide agenda that separates politics and humanitarian response to assist humanitarian workers during the relief response phase.

## 7.4.3 Develop a well-respected organisation

The behaviour of people changes over time. The organisation needs to develop a system, like an employee's chart to record the employee's performance. The chart will help monitor the behaviour of an individual within the organisation. It will be easy to recognise the difference in behaviour and to eliminate any cause of corruption as early as possible. The organisation should ensure that its duties under the Disaster Management Act, 2002 (Act No. 57 of 2002) as amended (Act No. 16 of 2015) are upheld and not subjected to improper political interference on a decision of disaster response. Investing in a relationship with politicians will assist the disaster managers to identify political losses that drive improper interference and take steps to diminish those losses (Mfuru, Sarwatt and Kanire, 2018).

# 7.4.4 Establish community-based capacity building

Local communities are the first responders to emergencies and they are the key actors in disaster risk management. Community capacity building should encompass all stakeholders and not be limited to students in primary and secondary school. Men and women need to be active players in disaster risk management and emergency response in the future. Broad community participation, as well as a unit of volunteers to participate in disaster management, must be initiated. Providing local communities with disaster risk reduction and humanitarian response knowledge means people will be familiar with the procedures that are used to identify needy people, delivering and the distribution of humanitarian aids.

# 7.4.5 Effective humanitarian response coordination

The partnership between municipal organs of state and the private sector, NGOs and CBOs exist for public awareness programmes and projects. The centre should have regular contact with these organisations to discuss the problems that the centre and practitioners are facing. One-on-one and group meetings will encourage people to integrate solutions that are acceptable to all. Coordination is a process, which means there must be regular contact. Effective communication will help in outlining the authority and responsibilities of each organisation and promote deep understanding among members by bringing and maintaining coordination to achieve an effective humanitarian response.

## 7.4.6 Reinforce humanitarian response plan

Disaster practitioners have a comprehensive and evidence-based understanding of why such challenges occur during relief response operations. Since the causes and motives are known, the response plan should be strengthened with appropriate and corresponding details of how to manage the challenges. When processes are documented it is much easier to defend and support the decision (Ivan, 2016) Operational guidelines need to be established for large-scale emergency incidents where a shortage of resources is likely.

# 7.4.7 The Disaster Management Act, 57 of 2002 and the National Disaster Management Framework, 2005

The disaster response will be much more effective if disaster practitioners have clear guidance on what to do when they encounter challenges during the disaster response phase. Guidance in respect to the challenges should not exist at the national level. However, the Act and Framework should mandate local municipalities to have a humanitarian response plan that deals with challenges that arise during disaster relief operations. The two can set standards and boundaries for action, for example, by defining keywords such as improper political intervention, corruption for practitioners in the disaster management field. Also, provide guidance to local municipalities on underlying factors such as poverty, dense settlements and population growth. Addressing these gaps will lead to an efficient and effective humanitarian response.

## 7.5 Recommendation for further research

The research has led to some useful results and conclusions on challenges encountered during disaster relief operations. However, it will also be helpful to capture qualitatively the experiences and perspectives of other organisations involved in relief response operations such as the private sector, NGOs and CBOs. Further research could explore their lived experiences regarding humanitarian response and how collectively they might support effective disaster relief response operations. Furthermore, it would be helpful to explore the extent of the uncovered challenges such as corruption and lack of resources. The following ideas can be explored:

- Examine the attitude of top management regarding a shortage of resources
- What causes corruption in disaster management?

Such research might lead to further review of the National Disaster Management Framework of 2005 concerning humanitarian response.

Although the City of Ekurhuleni Disaster Management Centre has a humanitarian response plan, it does not address the challenges the practitioners face when providing the assistance. Therefore, it can be concluded that the findings of this study sufficiently validate its outlined objectives.

# REFERENCES

Abdul, G. (2014). A Handbook of Social Research Principles and Practices. New Delhi: Longman Publishers.

Adom D., Husseim E. K., Adu-Agyem J. (2018). Theoretical and Conceptual framework: Mandatory Ingredients of a Quality Research, International journal of *scientific research*: volume-7 [Issue-1] January 2018.

Akhtar, I. (2016). Research Design, In book: Research in Social Science: Interdisciplinary Perspectives (pp. 17).

Al-Dahash, H., Thayaparan, M., and Kulatunga, U. (2016). Challenges duringDisaster Response Planning Resulting From War Operations and Terrorism in Iraq.Centre for Disaster resilience, School of the Built Environment, University of Salford,Salford, UK.

Amadeo, K. (2020). Haiti Eathquake Facts, Its damage, and effects on the Economy, The 2010 Eathquake Caused Lasting Damage.

Anderson C. (2010). Presenting and Evaluating Qualitative Research, Am J Parm Educ. 2010 Oct 11; 74(8): 141. Doi: 10.5688/aj7408141.

Arii, M. (2013). Rapid Assessment in Disasters, JMAJ 56(1): 19–24, 2013.

Asghar S., Alahakoon, D., and Churilov, L. (2006). Comprehensive Conceptual Model for Disaster Management.

Babbie, E. & Mouton, J. (2004). 'The practice of social research', Oxford University Press.

Bach C, Gupta, A. K., Nair, S. S. and Birkmann, J. (2013), Critical Infrastructures and Disaster Risk Reduction Training Module (in the Context of Natural Hazards), National Institute of Disaster Management, New Delhi.

Baidoo, J. (2018). Challenges and Strategies for Rapid Response in Disaster Relief Operations in Ghana. Texila International Journal of Management Volume 4, Issue 2. Bharosa, N., Lee, J. & Janssen, M. Challenges and obstacles in sharing and coordinating information during multi-agency disaster response: Propositions from field exercises. Inf Syst Front 12, 49–65 (2010). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-009-</u> 9174-z.

Bhandari P. (2020). An introduction to qualitative research. Published on June 19, 2020 and Revised on July 30, 2020.

Boyce, C. & Neale, P. (2006). CONDUCTING IN-DEPTH INTERVIEWS: A Guide for Designing and Conducting In-Depth Interviews for Evaluating Input, Pathfinder International Tool Series, Monitoring and Evaluation – 2.

Bloomberg, L.D & Volpe, M. (2012): *Completing your Qualitative Dissertation*: A Road Map from beginning to end, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Sage Publication, California, USA. Brevik, L. M. (2013): *Research Ethics: An investigation into why school leaders agree or refuse to participate in educational research,* Problems of Education in the 21stcentury Volume 52, 2013.

Bolderston, A. (2012). Conducting a Research Interview, Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences 43 (2012) 66-76.

Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2012). Thematic analysis. In H. Cooper, P. M. Camic, D. L. Long, A. T. Panter, D. Rindskopf, & K. J. Sher (Eds), APA handbook of research methods in psychology, vol.2: *Research design: Quantitative, qualitative, neuropsychological, and biological* (pp. 57-71). Washington, DC: American Psychology Association.

Boru, T. (2018). Chapter Five Research Design and Methodology 5.1 Introduction, DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.21467.62242.

Boyce, C. & Neale, P. (2006). Conducting in-depth interviews: A Guide for Designing and Conducting In-Depth Interviews for Evaluating Input, Pathfinder International Tool Series, Monitoring and Evaluation – 2.

Caulfied, J. (2019). How to do thematic analysis, A step-by-step guide, Published on September 6, 2019 and Revised on August 14, 2020.

Charmaz, K. & Bryant, A. (2010). Grounded Theory, in International Encyclopedia of Education (Third Edition), 2010.

Cheema, A.R., Mehmood, A. and Imran, M. (2016), "Learning from the past: Analysis of disaster management structures, policies and institutions in Pakistan ", Disaster Prevention and Management, Vol. 25 No. 4, pp. 449-463.

https://doi.org/10.1108/DPM-10-2015-0243

Christy, M.L., 2013. *The Research Methodology*. International Journal of Social Studies, XI(12), pp.43-928.

Clandinin, D. J. (2005). Qualitative Analysis, Anthropology, in Encyclopedia of Social measurement, 2005.

Compton C, (2010): Progressive Leadership Principles. Concept and Tool.

Coetzee C. & van Niekerk D. (2012). Tracking the evolution of the disaster management cycle: A general system theory approach. Journal of Disaster Risk Studies | Vol 4, No 1| a54 | DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/jamba.v4i1.54</u>]

Cohen D. (2015). What is Professional Judgement? Available at:

https://www.collegeofdietitians.org>resources>what-is-professional-judgement.

Corsel, D., Ray-Bennett, N. and Hebden, S. (2017), Review of the National Disaster Management Policies and Plans of Kenya and Uganda for Scoping Disaster Risk Reduction for Earth Observation, National Centre for Earth Observation.

Cresswell, J. W. (2013): *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design*, Choosing Among Five Approaches, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters (2018), Economic Losses,

Poverty and Disasters 1998 - 2017 Do: 10.13140/ RG.2.2.35610.08643

Cresswell, J.W and Poth C.N, (2016): Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design,

Choosing Among Five Approaches. (4<sup>th</sup> Edition), Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Daniels, L.D., 2012. International Comparative Research: Theory, Methods and

Practice. International Journal of Marketing Management, III(23), pp.34-45.

Dane, F.C. (2011): Evaluating research: Methodology for people who need to read research: London SAGE.

Davis, A. (2002), the Challenges to Humanitarian Action. Available at: http://odihpn.org>magazine>the-Challenges-to-humanitarian-action

Chesire, D. (2015), Article, Take Care: Challenges medical relief teams face after disaster. Available at: http://www.phys.org-otherscences-socialscenes.

Degu, G. and Yigzaw, T. (2006): Research Methodology. Ethopia: USAID.

DeFranzo, S. E. (2011). What's the difference between qualitative and quantitative research? Available At: <u>https://www.snapsurveys.com-blog-qualitative-and-qualitative-research</u>

Demola, A. (2013): *Approaches to Data Analysis in Social Research*. Paper presented at the Research Methods Seminar of the College of Social and Management Sciences, Afe Bebalola University, Ado-Ekiti. 19<sup>th</sup> and 20<sup>th</sup> March 2013. Western Cape Government, (2015). Disaster Management Definitions, Disaster Management and Fire and Rescue Services, (Department of Local Government, Western Cape Government). Dewald van Niekerk, (2014), A critical analysis of the South African Disaster Management Act and Policy Framework, African Centre for Disaster Studies, North-West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa.

Dikko, M. (2016): *Establishing Construct Validity and Reliability:* Pilot Testing of a Qualitative Interview for Research in Takaful (Islamic Insurance), Volume 2 Number. Dudovskiy, J. (2018). The Ultimate Guide to Writing a Dissertation in Business Studies: A Step-by-Step Assistance, E-book.

Durcevic, S. (2020). Your Modern Business Guide to Data Analysis Methods and Techniques.

Duncan, J. (2014): *The Rise of the Securocrats*, The case of South Africa, Jacana Media, South Africa.

Drabek, T. E., & Evans J. (2004). Theories Relevant to Emergency Management Versus A theory of Emergency Management, Emeritus Department of Sociology and Criminology University of Denver, Denver, Colorado 80208-2948.

Dyssel, J. (2018), Disaster management and resilience: Limpopo, Capricorn District Municipality, Corporate Governance, RSA.

Ekurhuleni Institute of Higher Learning Situational Analysis Report (2017).

20170921-083131.CoE.Institute-of-Higher-Learning-Situational-Analysis-Report-Feb-

2017-pdf (1 of 1), Available at https://www.ekurhuleni.gov.za-images

easyblog\_articles-2017.

Ekurhuleni Metropolitan Municipality (2015). Climate Change Response Strategy, Ekurhuleni Metropolitan Municipality. Available at:

https://www.ekurhuleni.gov.za>envirnmental-reports>file

Ekurhuleni Metropolitan Municipality – Integrated Development Plan, Budget, and Service Delivery Budget Implementation Plan, 2014/15-2016/17, City of Ekurhuleni, Germiston.

Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K. and Kyngäs H. (2014), *Qualitative Content Analysis*: A Focus on Trustworthiness. SAGE Open, January-March 2014: 1–10

Eyewitness News 01 October (2019). Over 200 shacks destroyed in Ekurhuleni. Available at: http://www.ewn.co.za-2019/10/01-fire-hitpomona-residents.

Ferry, A. (2017). The Importance of Being prepared Before a Disaster Strikes.

Available At: http://www.medium.com>galaxy-digital>the-importance-of-being-

prepared-before-a-disaster-strikes

Ferris E. (2008), Challenges in the Humanitarian Field: The Big Picture, Institute of Study of International Migration, Georgetown University.

Flick, U. (2015): An Introduction to Qualitative Research. (5<sup>th</sup> Edition) SAGE Publications Ltd.

Fred, P. (2009). Chaos, strategy, and action: How not to fiddle while Rome burns, University of New Mexico

Gentles, S.J Charles, C Ploeg J & McKibbon, K, (2015): Sampling in Qualitative *Research: Insights from an Overview of the Methods Literature*. The Qualitative Report, 20(11), 1772-1789, Retrieved from

http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr/vol20/iss11/5.

Germiston City News November 15, 2016. Available at:

http://www.germistoncitynews.com>Ekurhuleni-rocked-by-freak-thunderstorm.

Goundar S (2012). Chapter 3 – Research Methodology and Research Method, Victoria University of Wellington.

Hammersley, M Traianou. A. (2012): *Ethics in Qualitative Research*, controversies and contexts. London. SAGE Publications Ltd.

Hammarberg, H., Kirkman, M., and de Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: when to use them and how to judge them, *Human Reproduction,* Volume

31, Issue 3, March 2016, Pages 498-501, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334</u>.

Hendricks, M. (2017), Understanding the Unprecedented: Social Vulnerability, Infrastructure Failure, and Catastrophe, Natural Hazard Centre.

Hemmesley, M., 2014. *The Dilemma of Qualitative Methodology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hyer K., and Brown L.M. (2012). Disaster Preparedness, Response, and Recovery. Publisher: Johns Hopkins University Press, Editors: T.R. Prochaska, L.A. Anderson, and R.H. Binstock.

Igwenagu, C. (2016). Fundamentals of research methodology and data collection, Edition: current. Publisher: LAP Lambert Academic Publishing (2016-04-19), ISBN: 978-3-659-86884-9.

IFRC (2017). Disaster preparedness. International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies.

IFRC (2017). Emergency needs assessment, International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies.

IFRC (2017). Emergency needs assessment, International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies.

Iskandar, J. Salamah, U. and Patonah, N. (2018), Policy Implementation in Realizing the Effectiveness of Disaster Management, International Journal of Engineering & Technology, 7 (2.29) (2018) 548-552

Ivan, I. (2016). The importance of professional judgement applied in the context of the International Financial Reporting Standards, Audit Financiar, vol. XIV, no.

10(142)/2016, pp. 1127-1135, DOI: 10.20869/AUDITF/2016/142/1127

Jabareen. Y., (2009). Building a conceptual framework: philosophy, definitions, and procedure, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2f160940690900800406</u>

Jameson, L., (2015). *Combining Methods: A key to Understanding Complexity in Societies*. 2nd ed. Cape Town: McGraw Hill Publishers.

Jeremy, L.F., 2014. The Competent Research Methodology. *Journal of Education*, I(8), pp.34-87.

Jilcha, K. (2019). Research Design and Methodology, In book: Research Design and Methodology (pp.27), DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.85731.

Kabir, S. M. S. (2016). Methods of data collection, Curtin University.

Kapucu N, (2011): *International Journal of Public Administration*, Volume 34, 2011issue 6. Published online 18 May 2011

Kumar, R. (2014): *Research Methodology*: A Step-by-Step Guide for Beginners, (4<sup>th</sup> Edition), Sage Publication Ltd.

Kothari, C. R. (2004). Research Methodology Methods & Techniques, *Second revised edition,* Published by New Age International (P) Ltd., Publishers.

Kivunja C. & Kuyini A. B. (2017). Understanding and Applying Research Paradigms in Educational Contexts, *International Journal of Higher Education* 6(50:26 DOI: 10.5430/ijhe.v6n5p26.

Lawson, D. J. (2015). Populations in Statistical Genetic Modelling and Inference. In Population in the Human Sciences: Concepts, Methods, Evidence (1 ed., pp. 108-130). Oxford University Press.

https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199688203.003.0004.

Lee, K. J. (2019), A case study of collaborative disaster management in Malaysia, University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand

Len, N. (2018), Flood vulnerability of critical infrastructures – review, *Malaysian Journal of Geosciences* 2(1) (2018) 31-34.

Leung L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. J Family Med Prim Care. 2015 Jul-Sep, 4(3): 324-327. Doi: 10.4103/2249-4863.161306.

Lindel M. K. (2013). "Disaster Studies", Current Sociology 61 (5-6):797-825, DOI: 10.1177/0011392113484456.

Mail and Guardian 3 October (2011). Tornado-hit Duduza to be declared a disaster zone. Available at: <u>http://www.mg.co.za-article-2011/10/03-tornadohit-duduza</u>.

Marcos, R and Thieux,L.. (2019). The challenges faced by humanitarian action in long term conflicts (Vol.1 & 2. IECAH's Working Paper 11th and 12th). Available at: <a href="http://www.iecah.org-publications-cuademos-descargas">http://www.iecah.org-publications-cuademos-descargas</a>.

Marshall, C. (2016). Face-to-face Interviews – Advantages and Disadvantages, Published on January 15, 2016.

Marutlulle K. (2017). 'Causes of informal settlements in Ekurhuleni Metropolitan Municipality: An exploration', Africa's Public Service Delivery and Performance Review 5(1), a131. https://doi.org/10.4102/apsdpr.v5i1.131.

Mavis, J.S., (2014). *Why Sampling Techniques*. Journal of Industrial Pychology, VII(43), pp.14-134.

McMillan, F.R., (2016). *Business Research Methods*. Chicago: New World Publishers.

McEntire, D. A. (2012): Coordinating multi-organizational responses to disaster: Lessons from the March 28, 2000 Fort Worth tornado. Disaster Prevention and Management 11 (5): 369-379

McLeod, S. A. (2019, August 03). *Sampling methods*. Simply Psychology. https://www.simplypsychology.org/sampling.html

McLeod, S. A. (2019). Qualitative vs. quantitative research. Simply Psychology. https://www.simplypsychology.org/qualitative-quantitative.html

Miles, J.K., (2014). Social Research: Theory and Practice. New York: Longman Publishers.

Miles, H.B., Huberman, A.M. & Saldana, J., (2014). *Qualitative Data Analysis: A Methods Sourcebook*. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications.

Mijalković, S. and Cvetković, V. (2013), Vulnerability of critical infrastructure by natural disasters, The Academy of Criminalistics and Police Studies, Belgrade.

Methodology rapid assessment for humanitarian assistance (2006), (Final Version English Draft 1), *Panama December 2006.* 

Merriam-Webster (2020). "Methodology", Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary, http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/methodology.

Mohammad, Z. (2013): *Mixed Method Research*: Instruments, Validity, Reliability and Reporting Findings. Theory and Practice in Language Studies, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 254-262, February 2013 © 2013 Academy Publisher Manufactured in Finland. Moser, L.O., (2015). *Methodology: The Sampling Strategy*. New Delhi: Longman Publishers.

Moser, A. & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis, Eur J Gen Pract. 2018; 24(1): 9-18. Published online 2017 Dec 4. DO: 10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091.

Naidoo, S., (2016). *The Qualitative Research Study: Sampling Strategy.* 2nd ed. Toronto: McGraw Hill Publishers.

Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T. & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspect Med Educ* **8**, 90-97 (2019). https://doi.org/org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2.

Noble H., and Smith J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing* 2015; 18:34-35.

Nurfaidah, S. (2018). Three Attitudes of a Reflective Teacher, Research and Innovation in Language Learning, DOI: 10.33603/rill.v1i1.1084.

O'Connor, H. & Gibson, N. (2003). A Step-by-Step Guide to Qualitative Data Analysis, Pimatisiwin: A Journal of Aboriginal and Indigenous Community Health Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, (2018), Disaster response and preparedness in Southern Africa: A Guide to International Tools and Services Available to Governments, Regional Office for Southern Africa,

OECD (2018). Humanitarian Assistance, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

Orodho, J. A., 2008. *Techniques of Writing Researcher Proposals and Reports: In Education and social sciences.* 1st ed. Nairobi: Masola Printers.

Oyen, E., 2013. Comparative Methodology: Theory and Practice in International Social Research. Dublin : New Age Publishing.

Olsen E. (2020). Strategic Implementation, Managing Performance, Execution & Implementation Process.

Palinkas L. A., Sarah M. Horwitz, S.M, Green, C.A, Wisdom, J.P, & Duan, N. (2013). Purposeful Sampling for Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis in Mixed Method Implementation Research Kimberly Hoagwood, Springer Science + Business Media New York

Patton, M. Q. (2015): *Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods*: Integrating Theory and Practice (4th Ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Punch, K.F. (2014): *Introduction to Social Research*: Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches (3<sup>rd</sup> Edition). Sage London

Parmar S. S. (2012). Humanitarian assistance and disaster relief (HADR) in India's National Strategy Focus, Institute for Defence Studies and Analyses.

PAHO (1999). Humanitarian assistance in disaster situations. A guide for effective Aid; 1999.

Pescaroli, G. and Alexander, D. (2016), Critical infrastructure, panarchies and the vulnerability paths of cascading disasters, Journal of National Hazards (2016) 82:175–19.

Raymond A Noe, John R Hollenbeck, Barry Gerhart and Patrick M Wright, (2015): *Human Resource Management*, 9<sup>th</sup> Edition, McGraw Hill, Berkshire, UK

Richardson, D., 2014. *Importance of Emperical Studies in Current Studies*. Journal of Social Research, VII(38), pp.28-342.

Reeves, S., Peller, J., Goldman, J., & Kitto, S. (2013). Ethnography in qualitative educational research: AMEE Guide No. 80, Medical Teacher, 35:8, e1365-e1379, DOI: 10.3109/0142159X.2013.804977.

Republic of South Africa: Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act 108 of 1996).

Republic of South Africa: Disaster Management Act, 2002 (Act 57 of 2002).

Republic of South Africa: Fire Brigade Services Amendment Bill (63 B- 99) Government Printer: Pretoria.

Republic of South Africa: Fund Raising Act, 1978 (Act 107 of 1978).

Republic of South Africa: Intergovernmental Relations Framework Act, 2005 (Act 13 of 2005).

Republic of South Africa: Municipal Systems Act, 2000 (Act 32 of 2000).

Republic of South Africa: National House of Traditional Leaders Act, 2009 (Act no 22 of 2009)

Ritchie (2014), "Natural Disasters". Published online at OurWorldInData.org. Retrieved from: 'https://ourworldindata.org/natural-disasters' [online Resource] Resnik D. B. (2015). What Is Ethics in Research & Why Is It Important.

Saldana, J.R., 2012. *Business Research Methods*. New Jersey: McGraw Hill Publishers.

Saunders, M.N., Lewis, P. & Thornhill, A., 2015. *Research Methods for Business Students*. 7th ed. New Jersey: John Wiley and Sons.

Saunders, L.S., 2016. Social Sciences: Cross-National Research Methods. New Jersey: John Wiley and Sons.

SAMHSA (2018). Disaster Technical Assistance Center Supplemental Research Bulletin, First responders: Behavioral health concerns, emergency response and trauma.

Salaman, Graeme, Storey, John, Billsbery, Jon, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, 2015, *Strategic Human Resource Management, Theory and Practice*, Sage Publications Itd

Safarpour, H., Fooladlou, S., Safi-Keykaleh, M. et al. Challenges and barriers of humanitarian aid management in 2017 Kermanshah earthquake: a qualitative study. BMC Public Health 20, 563 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-08722-5</u>.

Schoch, K. (2020). Case Study Research, *published by SAGE Publications, Inc.* Sekaran, U., and Bougie, R. (2013): *Research Methods for Business*: A skill building approach. John Wiley & Sons Ltd

Seneviratne, T. K. K., Pathirage, C. P., Amaratunga, Dilanthi and Haigh, Richard (2011) Disaster knowledge factors: benefits and challenges. In: International Conference on Building Resilience 2011: Interdisciplinary approaches to disaster risk reduction, and the development of sustainable communities and cities, 19-21st July 2011, Kandalama, Sri Lanka. (Unpublished).

Sena L. & Michael K. W. (2006). Disaster prevention and Preparedness, Jimma University

Serrat O. (2017) The Sustainable Livelihoods Approach. In: Knowledge Solutions. Springer, Singapore. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-0983-9\_5</u>

Smith W, (2010): *Ergonomics Volume 43*, 2000-issue 8. Published online 10 November 2010

Sithole B. E. (2014). Municipal Disaster Management in South Africa: Intergovernmental Relations as a Planning Instrument, Central University of Technology, Free State.

Small Island Developing States, (2014), Capacity-building seminar on "Collaborative Approaches and Solutions to Disasters Management Challenges for SIDS Municipalities in the Context of Sustainable Development" Singapore, 10-12 November 2014

Stikova, E. (2016), Disaster preparedness, South Eastern European Journal of Public Health Special Volume 2016: A Global Public Health Curriculum; 2nd Edition (2016)

Stikova E. Disaster Preparedness – R 2.8. DO - 10.4119/UNIBI/SEEJPH-2018-180. Strang, K.D., 2015. *The Palgrace Handbook of Research Design in Business and Management*. New York City: Palgrave Macmillan.

Srivastava K. (2010). Disaster: Challenges and Perspectives. Ind Psychatry J [serial online] 2010 [cited 2020 Oct 2]; 19: 1 -4. Available from:

http://www.industrialpsychiatry.org/text.asp?2010/19/1/1/77623

Sundler, A. J., Lindberg, E., Nilsson, C., & Palmer, L. (2019). Qualitative thematic analysis based on descriptive phenomenology. First published: 07 April 2019 <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.275</u>.

Sutherland, R. and April, L. (2019), Disaster Response A Public Financial Management Review Toolkit, World Bank Group.

Tamene E. H. (2016). Theorizing conceptual framework. The journal of Educational Research 4(2), Jimma University.

Tipper, J. (2016): *Decision-Making in Disaster Response Strategies for Frontline Humanitarian Workers.* Published online 21 December 2016. Link:

https://www.odihpn.org/blog/decision-making-in-disaster-response-strategies-forfrontline-humanitarian-workers.

Thompson, C. B. (2009). Descriptive Data Analysis, Basic Research part 13.

Todd D. and Todd H. (2011). Natural Disaster Response: Lessons from Evaluations of the World Bank and Others. The World Bank, 1818 H Street, NW, Washington, DC 20433.

Trigueros, R., Juan, M., and Sandoval, F. H. (2017). Qualitative and quantitative research instruments. Research tools.

United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction. (2008). Hyogo Framework for Action 2005-2015: Building the resilience of nations and communities to disasters. United Nations, New York and Geneva

United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (2015), Poverty & Death: Disaster Mortality, 1996 – 2015.

UNOCHA (2018). United Nations Disaster Assessment and Coordination, United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, UNDAC *Field Handbook* 7<sup>th</sup> Edition.

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (2012).

Humanitarian Principles, United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs.

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (2020). The UN and Disaster Management, United Nations Office for Humanitarian Assistance UNISDR & UNOCHA (2008). Disaster Preparedness for Effective Response Guidance and Indicator Package for Implementing Priority Five of the Hyogo Framework. United Nations secretariat of the International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UNISDR) and the United Nations Office for Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA), Geneva, Switzerland, 51+iv pp

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2016). Evaluations of emergency operations, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees.

United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction, (2009): 2009 UNISDR Terminology on Disaster Risk Reduction, Geneva.

United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (2005), Hyogo

framework for action 2005 – 2015: Building the resilience of nations and

communities to disasters. Geneva: United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction.

United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (2015), Sendai framework for disaster risk reduction 2015 -2030. Geneva: United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction.

Van Heerden, M. & Thani, X.C., (2010). Scholary Research: Some Guidelines to Ethically Responsible Decisions. *Administratio Publica*, VI(32), pp.11-190. Vaus, S.D., (2013). *Cross National Research Designs*. 4th ed. New Delhi: Pearson

Education Books.

Vijayan Iyer G. & Mastorakis N. E. (2006). Important elements of disaster management and mitigation and design and development of a software tool.
Publication: MCBE' 06: Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> WSEAS International Conference on Mathematics & Computers in Business & Economics, June 2006, Page 102-121.
Winters, H.R., (2014). *The Art of Choosing the Research Design*. Chicago: Green Publishers.

Wong, L. P. (2008). Data Analysis in Qualitative Research: A Brief Guide to Using Nvivo, Malays Fam Physician. 2008; 3(1): 14-20.

Yin, R.K., (2014). *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*. 5th ed. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications.

Zikmund, W.G., (2015). *Business Research Methods*. 14th ed. New Delhi: Cengage Learning

Zlatanova S. Holweg D, (2004): 3D Geo-information in emergency response: a framework, in: Proceedings of the Fourth International Symposium on Mobile Mapping Technology (MMT'2004). 29 March.

# ANNEXURES



### **INTERVIEW GUIDE**

I am a registered Masters in Disaster Management, student number 2017245081 from the University of the Free State – Disaster Management Training and Education Centre for Africa (UFS-DiMTEC). I am conducting a study in the City of Ekurhuleni Disaster Management Centre regarding the challenges encountered by disaster managers during the humanitarian response operations.

The title of the study is HUMANITARIAN RESPONSE: INVESTIGATING THE CITY OF EKURHULENI'S STRATEGIES IN RESOLVING RESPONSE CHALLENGES.

Your answers are confidential and all information obtained are for academic purposes only. Your honest answers to questions will provide an understanding of the challenges experienced by disaster managers and will assist in finding solutions to the challenges. The research was reviewed and approved by the University of the Free State's Ethics Review Committee. You can contact the researcher, Tshepo Innocent Makua, at tshepomakua82@gmail.com or 083 747 1260 for more details of the study and findings.

- Please feel free to skip questions you are not comfortable with;
- You are free to discontinue the survey at any time;
- There is no reimbursement for participating in this research;
- To complete the questionnaire will take not more than 30 minutes.

Please indicate answers with an **X** in the applicable box, except when asked to give an answer.

Do you consent to participate in this survey?



### SECTION A: DEMOGRAPHIC DATA

1.	Please indicate your gender	1. Male	2. Female
----	-----------------------------	---------	-----------

3.       What is the highest level of education you attained?       1. Never went to school         2. Primary School       3. High School         4. Tertiary Education       5. Vocational training	2.	Please indicate	e your ag	je		1. 18		2. 19-29	3. 30-41	4. 42-53	5. over 54
	3.	What is the attained?	highest	level	of edu	cation	you	<ol> <li>Never went</li> <li>Primary Sch</li> <li>High Schoo</li> <li>Tertiary Edu</li> <li>Vocational t</li> </ol>	to school nool I ucation training		

### SECTION B: HAZARDS IN THE CITY OF EKHURULENI

### 4. What hazards are experienced in the City of Ekurhuleni?

5. How often does the City of Ekurhuleni's Disaster Management Centre respond to incidents?(*Mark your answer with an X*)

Daily	Weekly	Monthly	Other	(please	
			specify)		

### SECTION C: RESPONSE CHALLENGES

6. Does the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers encounter challenges when responding to an incident?

YES	NO	

7. What challenges does the City of Ekurhuleni disaster managers face during humanitarian response operation? (*Please list all the challenges*)

8. In which areas of the City of Ekurhuleni do you most experience challenges you mentioned above? (*Please select 5 and mark with a number from 1 to 5, 1 being the most problematic*)

Northern Region	Eastern Region	Southern Region

Tembisa	Etwatwa	Alberton
Kempton Park	Daveyton	Germiston
Edenvale	Benoni	Boksburg
Bedfordview	Brakpan	Katlehong
	Springs	Vosloorus
	Kwa Thema	Thokoza
	Duduza	Palm Ridge
	Nigel	Zonkizizwe
	Tsakane	

### 8. What do you think causes the challenges?

### SECTION D: RESPONSE STRATEGIES

9. Is there any humanitarian response plan in the City of Ekurhuleni that deals with the above-

# mentioned challenges?

YES	NO	NOT	
		SURE	

### 10. If Yes, Does the plan include the following:

	YES	NO	MAYBE	COMMENT
Rapid assessment				

Decisions based on		
professional judgement		
e.g what should happen if		
people refuse temporary		
shelters?		
Evaluate the decision of		
Evaluate the decision e.g		
is this decision in the best		
interest of the community?		
Command/Implementation		
e.g after deciding, does		
the decision gets		
implemented?		
Other (please		
specify)		

11. Or, Does the plan include the elements set in KPA 4 of the NDMF for achieving precise and realistic relief operations? Such as:

	YES	NO	MAYBE	COMMENT
Dissemination of				
early warnings e.g				
communication does				
the affected				
community receive				
the warning on time?				
Assessment and				
classification of a				
disaster, and				
declaration and				
review of a disaster				
e.g methodology,				
which guideline is				

used for assessment				
and classification of				
events as a				
disasters?				
Integrated response				
and recovery e.g				
operational plan,				
does other				
stakeholders (NGOs,				
Private sectors, and				
community				
organisations)				
contribute to field				
operations?				
Delief measures and				
Relief measures e.g				
resources, will the				
preserve lives during				
disasters?				
Rehabilitation and				
reconstruction e.g				
programmes, do the				
projects focus on				
improvements or				
building back better?				
Other (please				
specity)	1	l I	1	

# 12. In case you answered NO or NOT SURE, how do you deal with the challenges?

13. Considering the importance of humanitarian response, how do you ensure that your own judgement is in the best interest of the victims?

14. How have the City of Ekurhuleni communities been educated about disaster response and relief operation that take place after a disaster?

### SECTION E: THE SOUTH AFRICAN DISASTER MANAGEMENT LEGISLATION AND POLICY

15. Do you think the South African Disaster Management Act 57 of 2002 (as amended, 16 of 2015) and the National Disaster Management Framework of 2005, discuss anything or provide any guidance on how to deal with the humanitarian response challenges you mentioned in Question 8?



16. What other policies do you know of that guide disaster managers in mitigating possible response challenges in the City of Ekurhuleni?

17. Other comments regarding disaster response challenges and strategies you would like to share.

THE END THANK YOU FOR YOUR TIME
## **APPENDIX**



LANGUAGE AND TECHNICAL EDITING • PROOFREADING • PLAGARISM CHECKING • ACADEMIC RESEARCH (HONS AND MASTERS) AND PROJECT SUPERVISION • BUSINESS PROPOSAL

30 June 2021

## LETTER OF CONFIRMATION

I hereby confirm that I have done the language editing for the following dissertation:

Author: Mr Makua

Title: Humanitarian response: an investigation of the City of Ekurhuleni's strategies in resolving response challenges

Document: Masters in Disaster Management

This letter serves to confirm that I have edited Mr Makua document and I have made appropriate changes. The document was edited using track changes.

I am not responsible for any additional information that is added to the document after I have edited it. The student is responsible for the final document submitted.

I trust you find the above in order.

## Regards

Registered Board: South African Translators Institute Membership Number :10033691

CELLPHONE: 072 748 4133 • WORK NUMBER: 051 436 2488 • E-MAIL: hmajonga@gmail.com • ADDRESS: 14 GROOTE SCHUUR, ALWAL STREET, ARBORETUM, BLOEMFONTEIN